



This is to certify that the

dissertation entitled

Floer homology for Connected Sums of homology 3-Spheres presented by

Weiping Li

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for

degree in Mathematics

onald li hel

Major professor

Date 1 July 92

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution

0-12771



PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due.

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE		
MSU Is An Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution c:circidatedue.pm3-p.1				

FLOER HOMOLOGY FOR CONNECTED SUMS OF HOMOLOGY 3-SPHERES

By

Weiping Li

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Mathematics

1992

ABSTRACT

FLOER HOMOLOGY FOR CONNECTED SUMS OF HOMOLOGY 3-SPHERES

By

Weiping Li

Supervising Professor: Ronald Fintushel

In this thesis, we try to understand a Mayer-Vietoris principle for Floer homology. Floer homology is defined from a chain complex whose chain groups are roughly generated from the SU(2)-irreducible representations. And boundary maps depend on the 1-dimensional moduli space of self-dual connections on the (homology 3-sphere)×**R**. For Floer homology on connected sums, it relies on understanding the gluing procedure on noncompact 4-manifolds with almost-harmonic 2-forms in the gluing region. A particular gluing data and analysis are introduced. The splitting and perturbation effected on 1-dimensional moduli spaces are also considered.

Using this gluing result and the much simpler calculation of the spectral flow of the Chern-Simons Hessian for the connected sums we are able to calculate Floer homology in several examples.

To my grandparents.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my dissertation adviser, Professor Ronald Fintushel, who has been a constant source of inspirational advice for me. I would also like to thank him for introducing gauge theory to me, for suggesting the problem, and for the supervisoral guidance which made this work possible with his constant encouragement, help and support during my graduate study at Michigan State University.

My sincere thanks also goes to Professor Selman Akbulut with whom I went through all the important papers of S.Donaldson. He taught me how to single out insights from details. Also I am grateful to Professor T. Parker for his helpful conversations and time during the course of the work. I also learned much from his courses. I would also like to thank Professor Tom. Mrowka of California Institute of Technology for help at crucial time during the preparation of this thesis.

I would also like to thank my dissertation committee members Prof. J. Wolfson, Prof. T.Y. Li for their time.

Furthermore, I would like to thank former director of Graduate Studies, Professor Charles Sebeck, who made it possible for me to return to M.S.U. to study topology. My studies in the United State would not be possible without Professor Shiu-Nee Chow's help. I also owe a lot of thanks to him.

My sincere appreciation goes to my wife Xiaoli Liu. Her love, caring and understanding have been a source of encouragement to me during my entire study in mathematics. In particular, she has always supported me at my hardest times.

Contents

1	1 Introduction		1
2	Floer homology of homology 3-spheres		
	2.1	Floer homology	3
	2.2	Spectral flow	7
3	Grafting		
	3.1	Properties of balanced connections	12
	3.2	Smallest eigenvalue on $Y \times \mathbf{R} \dots \dots$	16
	3.3	Structure of the trajectory flow on the connected sum	24
4	The	Floer homology of $Y_0 \# Y_1$	31
	4.1	General properties of the Floer homology of $Y_0 # Y_1 \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	31
	4.2	Description of d_1	33
	4.3	Examples	39
5	On spectral properties		
	5.1	The Laplacian on a connected sum	43

Chapter 1

Introduction

Floer homology is a mod 8-graded homology theory for homology three spheres which relates Donaldson's polynomial invariants in the relative and absolute cases via a Mayer-Vietoris principle. It is defined from a chain complex whose chain groups are (roughly) built from the SU(2)-representations of the fundamental group of the homology sphere. These can often be straightforward to compute. (They rely "only" on linear analysis.) The boundary operators, however, depend on nonlinear analysis, namely, the structure of the 1-dimensional moduli space of self-dual connections on the (homology sphere) $\times \mathbf{R}$.

The first calculations of Floer homology were carried out by R.Fintushel and R.Stern who computed Floer homology for Brieskorn homology spheres and outlined a program for their calculation for all Seifert fibered homology spheres. A natural question is to ask about the Floer homology of a connected sum of homology 3-spheres Y_0 and Y_1 . The difficult point is understanding the structure of the 1-dimensional moduli space of anti-self-dual connections on the tube $(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbf{R}$. This relies on understanding the (Taubes) gluing procedure on noncompact 4-manifolds with almost-harmonic 2-forms in the gluing region. Each connection in a connected component of a moduli space $\mathcal{M}^1_{(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbf{R}}(\alpha \# \beta, \alpha' \# \beta')$ must limit asymptotically to flat SU(2)-connections on $Y_0 \# Y_1$ which in turn correspond to representations such as $\alpha \# \beta$ where α is an SU(2)-representation of $\pi_1(Y_0)$ and β of $\pi_1(Y_1)$. We have proved:

Theorem 1.0.1 : For appropriate metrics on $(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbf{R}$, any 1-dimensional anti-self-

dual moduli space takes the form $\mathcal{M}^{1}_{(Y_{0} \# Y_{1}) \times \mathbb{R}}(\alpha \# \beta, \alpha' \# \beta)$ (or $(\alpha \# \beta, \alpha \# \beta')$).

In other words, given a anti-self-dual connection A in $\mathcal{M}_{Y_0 \times \mathbb{R}}^1(\alpha, \alpha')$ and a flat connection $B \in \mathcal{M}_{Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}}^0(\beta, \beta)$ (constant in t), they can be grafted together to produce a self-dual connection on $(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}$. Furthermore, each 1-dimensional moduli space on $(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}$ arises via this construction (perhaps with the role of Y_0 and Y_1 reversed).

Using this theorem and the (much simpler) calculation of the spectral flow of the Chern-Simons Hessian for the connected sum we are able to calculate Floer homology in several examples.

Theorem 1.0.2 1. For the connected sum of Poincaré S-sphere with itself, the Floer homology is

 $HF_0 = Z_2 \oplus Z_2, \quad HF_1 = Z, \quad HF_2 = Z, \quad HF_3 = Z \oplus Z$ $HF_4 = Z_2 \oplus Z_2, \quad HF_5 = 0, \quad HF_6 = 0, \quad HF_7 = Z \oplus Z$

2. For $\Sigma(2,3,7) \# \Sigma(2,3,7)$

- $HF_0 = Z_2 \oplus Z_2, \quad HF_1 = 0, \quad HF_2 = 0, \quad HF_3 = Z \oplus Z \oplus Z$ $HF_4 = Z_2 \oplus Z_2, \quad HF_5 = 0, \quad HF_6 = 0, \quad HF_7 = Z \oplus Z \oplus Z$ 8. For $\Sigma(2,3,5) \# \Sigma(2,3,7)$
 - $HF_0 = Z, \quad HF_1 = Z \oplus Z \oplus Z, \quad HF_2 = Z_2 \oplus Z_2, \quad HF_3 = 0$ $HF_4 = Z, \quad HF_5 = Z \oplus Z \oplus Z, \quad HF_6 = Z_2 \oplus Z_2, \quad HF_7 = 0$

At one time it was conjectured that the Floer homology was actually mod 4 rather than mod 8 graded. Example 1 above shows that this conjecture is false.

Chapter 2

Floer homology of homology 3-spheres

2.1 Floer homology

In this subsection, we will give a brief description of gauge theory on 3-manifolds and review the definition of Floer homology. For more see [4], [10], [12], and [15].

Let Y be a homology 3-sphere, i.e. an oriented closed 3-dimensional smooth manifold with $H_1(Y, Z) = 0$, and let $P \to Y$ be a smooth principal SU(2)-bundle. (Since $c_2(P) = 0$, this bundle is trivial.) Fix a trivialization $Y \times SU(2)$ of P and let θ be the associated trivial connection. Denote the Sobolev L_k^p space of connections on P by $\mathcal{A}(P)$. It has a natural affine structure with underlying vector space $\Omega^1(Y, adP)$ where adP is the adjoint bundle. $\mathcal{A}(P)$ is acted upon by the gauge group of bundle automorphisms of P which can be identified with $\mathcal{G} = Aut(P) = L_{k+1}^p(\Omega^0(Y, adP))$. Here we need $k + 1 > \frac{3}{p}$ so that we can form the quotient space of gauge equivalence classes $\mathcal{B}(P) = \mathcal{A}(P)/\mathcal{G}$. The irreducible connections (those for which the stabilizer of the action of \mathcal{G} is \mathbb{Z}_2) form an open and dense subspace $\mathcal{B}^*(P)$ of $\mathcal{B}(P)$. The space $\mathcal{B}^*(P)$ has the structure of a Banach manifold with

$$T_{a}\mathcal{B}^{*}(P) \equiv \{\alpha \in L_{k}^{p}(\Omega^{1}(Y, adP)) | d_{a}^{*}\alpha = 0\}$$

where d_a^* is the L²-adjoint of d_a (covariant derivative on sections of adP) with respect to

some metric on Y.

The Chern-Simons functional $cs: \mathcal{A}(P) \to \mathbf{R}$ is defined as

$$cs(a) = \frac{1}{2}\int_Y tr(a \wedge da + \frac{2}{3}a \wedge a \wedge a).$$

It satisfies $cs(g \cdot a) = cs(a) + 2\pi deg(g)$ for gauge transformations $g: Y \to SU(2)$. Thus cs is well-defined on $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}(P) = \mathcal{A}(P)/\{g \in \mathcal{G} : deg(g) = 0\}$ and it descends to a function

$$cs: \mathcal{B}(P) \to R/2\pi Z$$

which plays the role of a Morse function in defining Floer homology. Its differential is

$$dcs(a)(\alpha) = \int_Y tr(F_a \wedge \alpha),$$

and so its critical set consists of the flat connections $\mathcal{R}(\mathcal{B}(P)) = \{a \in \mathcal{B}(P) | F_a = 0\}$. (Here F_a is the curvature 2-form on Y.) It is well-known that $\mathcal{R}(\mathcal{B}(P))$ is in 1-1 correspondence with $\mathcal{R}(Y) = Hom(\pi_1(Y), SU(2))/adSU(2)$, the SU(2)-representations of $\pi_1(Y)$ mod conjugacy. Given any metric on Y, the Hodge star operator applied to the curvature F_a gives a vector field $f(a) = \star F_a \in L_k^p(\Omega^1(Y, adP))$. In fact because $f(g \cdot a) = g \cdot f(a) \cdot g^{-1}$, f(a) is a section of the bundle with fiber $T_a \mathcal{B}^*(P)$. A representation $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}(Y)$ is called *nondegenerate* if the twisted cohomology $H^1(Y; ad\alpha) = 0$. This is the same as requiring that $\ker df(a) = \ker \star d_a = 0$ where $\star d_a$ is the Hessian of the Chern-Simons functional.

Note that a 1-parameter family $\{a(t)| t \in \mathbf{R}\}$ of connections on P gives rise to a connection A with vanishing t-component on the trivial SU(2) bundle over $Y \times \mathbf{R}$. Floer's crucial observation is that trajectories of the vector field f, i.e. the flow lines of $\frac{\partial a}{\partial t} + f(a(t)) = 0$ or $\frac{\partial a}{\partial t} = \star F(a(t))$, can be identified with instantons A on $Y \times \mathbf{R}$ and $A|_{Y \times \{t\}} = a(t)$. A trajectory flow "connects" two flat connections on Y if and only if the Yang-Mills energy of the trajectory (as a connection on $Y \times \mathbf{R}$ with trivial component in the \mathbf{R} direction) is finite. One needs that all zeros of f are nondegenerate and that their stable and unstable manifolds intersect transversally in smooth finite dimensional manifolds. Floer has shown that one can perturb the Chern-Simons functional to make the trajectory flow "Morse-Smale" type (see [15] Lemma 2c.1, Proposition 2c.1 and 2c.2). These perturbations are based on Wilson loop functions. For the rest of this paper, we assume that the Chern-Simon functional has been so perturbed. Then all irreducible representations are isolated and nondegenerate. Since $\mathcal{R}(Y)$ is compact, it is then also finite.

Fix a Riemannian metric on Y. For any connection a in the trivial real 3-plane bundle over Y, define the elliptic operator

$$D_a: (\Omega^1 \oplus \Omega^0)(Y, adSU(2)) \to (\Omega^1 \oplus \Omega^0)(Y, adSU(2))$$

by $D_a(\alpha,\beta) = (\star d_a \alpha - d_a \beta, -d_a^{\star} \alpha)$. For a nondegenerate representation $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}(Y)$ the Floer grading $\mu(\alpha) \in Z_8$ is defined to be the spectral flow $SF(\alpha,\theta)$ of the family of operators D_{a_t} with the asymptotic values $\lim_{t\to-\infty} a_t = \alpha$, and $\lim_{t\to+\infty} a_t = a_{\theta}$, the element of $\mathcal{R}(\mathcal{B}(P))$ corresponding to α . (We also denote a_{α} by α .) The grading $\mu(\alpha)$ is well-defined mod 8 on $\mathcal{B}(P)$ independent of the choice of path a_t . Define the weighted Sobolev space $L_{k,\delta}^P$ on sections ξ of a bundle over $Y \times \mathbf{R}$ to be the L_k^P Sobolev space of $e_{\delta} \cdot \xi$ where $e_{\delta}(y,t) = e^{\delta|t|}$ for $|t| \geq 1$. For δ sufficiently small (we will be more precise in §3) and any SU(2) connection A on trivial bundle over $Y \times \mathbf{R}$, the anti-self-duality operator

$$d^*_{A} \oplus d^+_{A} : L^p_{k+1,\delta}(\Omega^1(Y \times \mathbf{R}, adP)) \to L^p_{k,\delta}((\Omega^0 \oplus \Omega^2_+)(Y \times \mathbf{R}, adP))$$

is Fredholm. We say that A is regular if $d_A^* \oplus d_A^+$ is surjective. In terms of the complex:

$$L^{\mathbf{p}}_{k+1,\delta}(\Omega^{0}(Y \times \mathbf{R}, adP)) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{A}}} L^{p}_{k,\delta}(\Omega^{1}(Y \times \mathbf{R}, adP)) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{A}}} L^{p}_{k-1,\delta}(\Omega^{2}_{+}(Y \times \mathbf{R}, adP))$$

A is regular means that $H_A^0 = 0$ (irreducible) and $H_A^2 = 0$ (generic). For a nondegenerate critical point α of cs, the spectral flow is $SF(\alpha, \theta) = Index(d_A^* \oplus d_A^+)(\alpha, \theta)$, the Atiyah-Patodi-Singer index of the anti-self-duality operator over $Y \times \mathbf{R}$. So

$$\mu(\alpha) \equiv Index(d_A^* \oplus d_A^+)(\alpha, \theta) \mod 8$$

where A is any family of connections $\{a(t)\} \in \mathcal{B}(P)$ over Y with $a(+\infty) = \theta$, $a(-\infty) = a_{\alpha}$ (see [15] or [12]). Floer's chain group $C_j(Y)$ is defined to be the free module generated by irreducible flat connections α with $\mu(\alpha) = j \mod 8$.

Note: Changing the orientation of Y switches the sign of cs and hence the spectrum of the Hessian reverses, so $-\mu_{-Y}(\alpha) = 3 - (-\mu_Y(\alpha)) \mod 8$. I.e. $\mu_{-Y}(\alpha) = 5 - \mu_Y(\alpha) \mod 8$.

Define $\mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}$ to be the moduli space of anti-self-dual connections on $Y \times \mathbb{R}$ and let $\mathcal{M}(\alpha,\beta)$ be the subspace of those A such that $\lim_{t\to-\infty} A = \alpha$, $\lim_{t\to+\infty} A = \beta$ for fixed flat connections α and β . It is a smooth canonically oriented manifold which has dimension congruent to $\mu(\alpha) - \mu(\beta) \pmod{8}$. The moduli space $\mathcal{M}(\alpha,\beta)$ has finitely many connected components each of which admits a proper, free \mathbb{R} -action arising from translations in $Y \times \mathbb{R}$. If $\mu(\alpha) - \mu(\beta) = 1 \pmod{8}$, let $\mathcal{M}^1(\alpha,\beta)$ be the union of 1dimensional components of $\mathcal{M}(\alpha,\beta)$. Further perturbations make all the $\mathcal{M}^1(\alpha,\beta)$ regular. Then $\mathcal{M}^1(\alpha,\beta)/\mathbb{R}$ will be a compact oriented 0-manifold, i.e. it is a finite set of signed points. The differential $\partial: C_j \to C_{j-1}$ of Floer's chain complex is defined by

$$\partial \alpha = \sum_{\beta \in C_{j-1}} \# \hat{\mathcal{M}}(\alpha, \beta) \beta$$

where $\hat{\mathcal{M}}(\alpha,\beta) = \mathcal{M}^1(\alpha,\beta)/\mathbf{R}$ and $\#\hat{\mathcal{M}}(\alpha,\beta)$ is the algebraic number of points. The sign in this formula can be counted by transporting the orientation on the normal bundle of the unstable manifold of α along the trajectory flow into the stable manifold of β . If this agrees with the natural orientation on the stable manifold of β , the trajectory gets the sign +1, otherwise -1. Floer has shown that $\partial^2 = 0$. Hence $\{C_j, \partial\}_{j \in Z_6}$ is a chain complex graded by $\mathbf{Z_8}$. The homology of this complex is Floer homology, denoted by HF_j . Floer has shown that it is independent of the choice of metric on Y and of perturbations (see [4], [10], [15]).

The connected sum $Y = Y_0 \# Y_1$ of two homology 3-spheres is again a homology 3sphere. Its fundamental group $\pi_1(Y_0 \# Y_1)$ is the free product of $\pi_1(Y_0)$ and $\pi_1(Y_1)$. There are four types of SU(2) representations of $\pi_1(Y_0 \# Y_1)$:

(1)
$$\boldsymbol{\theta} = \boldsymbol{\theta}_0 \# \boldsymbol{\theta}_1$$
, (2) $\boldsymbol{\theta}_0 \# \boldsymbol{\alpha}_1$, (3) $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_0 \# \boldsymbol{\theta}_1$, (4) $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_0 \# \boldsymbol{\alpha}_1$

where the α_i are irreducible representations of $\pi_1(Y_i)$ and θ_i is the trivial representation of $\pi_1(Y_i), i = 0, 1$. These four types of representations correspond to equivalence classes of flat connections glued together by the clutching map which forms the trivial SU(2)bundle over the connected sum from the bundles on the punctured summands. In each case we have a family $a_0 \# a_1$ of flat connections parametrized by a copy of SU(2), which can be identified with the automorphisms of a fiber over a point in the gluing region. Two elements of this family corresponding to automorphisms ρ_0 , ρ_1 are gauge equivalent if and only if $\rho_0 \rho_1^{-1}$ extends to an element of the isotropy group Γ_{a_0} or Γ_{a_1} . Thus the corresponding family of gauge equivalence classes is $SU(2)/\Gamma_{a_0} \times \Gamma_{a_1}$. Since $\Gamma_{\theta} \equiv SU(2)$ and $\Gamma_a = Z_2$ for a irreducible, the first three types of representations gives rise to a unique gauge equivalence class, whereas the last type of representation gives a copy of SO(3)for each pair of irreducible representations. In §3 we show that all trajectories between these representations are obtained by grafting together existing trajectories from each side. Thus one needs to compute the spectral flow along such trajectories. This is done in the next subsection.

2.2 Spectral flow

Consider irreducible representations $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{R}(Y)$ and let $\{a_t\}$ be a 1-parameter family of SU(2)-connections on Y joining α to β . Let A be the corresponding connection over $Y \times \mathbf{R}$. Recall that the spectral flow $SF(\alpha, \beta)$ is (modulo 8) the index of the Fredholm operator $D_A = d_A^{*s} \oplus d_A^+$ on the weighted Sobolev space with sufficiently small weight δ . Then the Floer grading,

$$\mu(\alpha) \equiv Index D_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha, \theta) \pmod{8}$$
(2.1)

One can consider the calculation of the index of the anti-self-duality operator as a boundary value problem with Atiyah-Patodi-Singer global boundary conditions ([3]). We have

$$Index(d_A^{*_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}} \oplus d_A^+)(\alpha,\beta) = -2\int_{Y \times \mathbb{R}} p_1(A) - \frac{h_{\boldsymbol{\beta}} + \rho_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(0)}{2} + \frac{-h_{\alpha} + \rho_{\alpha}(0)}{2} \qquad (2.2)$$

where $p_1(A)$ is the Pontryagin form, the term h_β is the sum of the dimensions of $H^i(Y, V_\beta)$, i = 0, 1, and ρ_β is the ρ - invariant of the signature operator $\star d_{a\beta} - d_{a\beta} \star$ over Y restricted to even forms (cf.[12]). An application of the signature formula to $Y \times I$ shows that $\rho_\alpha = \rho_\alpha(0)$ is independent of the Riemannian metric on Y and is an orientation-preserving diffeomorphism invariant of Y and α .

Lemma 2.2.1 For $\alpha_i \in \mathcal{R}(Y_i)$ irreducible, we have

1.
$$\rho_{\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1}(0) = \rho_{\alpha_0}(0) + \rho_{\alpha_1}(0)$$

2.
$$h_{\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1} = h_{\alpha_0} + h_{\alpha_1} + 3$$
,
 $h_{\alpha_0 \# \theta_1} = h_{\alpha_0}$,
 $h_{\theta_0 \# \alpha_1} = h_{\alpha_1}$,
 $h_{\theta_0 \# \theta_1} = 3$.

Proof: (1) Consider the cobordism X built by attaching a 1-handle to $(Y_0 \amalg Y_1) \times \{1\}$ in $(Y_0 \amalg Y_1) \times I$. The boundary of X is $Y_0 \# Y_1 \amalg -Y_0 \amalg -Y_1$. Note that $\pi_1(X) = \pi_1(Y_0 \# Y_1)$. So there are natural inclusions $\mathcal{R}(Y_i) \to \mathcal{R}(Y_0 \# Y_1)$ such that the pair (α_0, α_1) can be extended to a unitary representation of $\pi_1(Y_0 \# Y_1)$. (In fact, if the α_i are both irreducible, there is an SO(3)-family of such extensions.) By Theorem 2.4 in [3], we have

$$\rho_{\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1}(Y_0 \# Y_1) - \rho_{\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1}(Y_0 \amalg Y_1) = 2 \operatorname{sign}(X) - \operatorname{sign}_{\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1}(X),$$

where $H^2(X) = 0$ and $H^2(X; ad\alpha) = 0$. So we get the signatures satisfying $\operatorname{sign}(X) = 0$, $\operatorname{sign}_{\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1}(X) = 0$. Thus $\rho_{\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1}(Y_0 \# Y_1) = \rho_{\alpha_0}(Y_0) + \rho_{\alpha_1}(Y_1)$.

(2) Since α_0, α_1 are both irreducible, we have the betti numbers $h^0_{\alpha_i} = 0, i = 0, 1$, and similarly $h^0_{\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1} = 0$. The Mayer-Vietoris sequence gives:

$$0 \rightarrow H^0(S^2, adSU(2)) \rightarrow H^1_{\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1}(Y_0 \# Y_1, adSU(2))$$
$$\rightarrow H^1_{\alpha_0}(Y_0, adSU(2)) \oplus H^1_{\alpha_1}(Y_1, adSU(2)) \rightarrow 0$$

and so $h_{\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1} = h_{\alpha_0} + h_{\alpha_1} + 3$.

Clearly $h_{\theta_0 \# \theta_1} = 3$. So we consider the case of θ_0 and α_1 , where α_1 is irreducible. We have $h_{\theta_0 \# \alpha_1}^0 = 0$, $h_{\theta_0}^1 = 0$. Again applying the Mayer-Vietoris sequence

$$0 \to H^{0}_{\theta_{0}}(Y_{0}, adSU(2)) \oplus H^{0}_{\alpha_{1}}(Y_{1}, adSU(2)) \to H^{0}(S^{2}, adSU(2))$$

$$\to H^{1}_{\theta_{0} \# \alpha_{1}}(Y_{0} \# Y_{1}, adSU(2)) \to H^{1}_{\theta_{0}}(Y_{0}, adSU(2)) \oplus H^{1}_{\alpha_{1}}(Y_{1}, adSU(2)) \to 0$$

and using $h_{\theta_0}^1 = 0$, we have

$$(3+0) - 3 + h^1_{\theta_0 \# \alpha_1} - (0 + h^1_{\alpha_1}) = 0$$

i.e. $h_{\theta_0 \# \alpha_1} = h_{\alpha_1}$.

Lemma 2.2.2 For irreducible representations $\alpha_i \in \mathcal{R}(Y_i)$, we have the following addition property for the Floer grading μ :

$$\mu(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) = \mu(\alpha_0) + \mu(\alpha_1)$$
$$\mu(\theta_0 \# \alpha_1) = \mu(\alpha_1); \ \mu(\alpha_0 \# \theta_1) = \mu(\alpha_0).$$

Proof: For computing $\mu(\alpha_i)$ we can use any connections A_i over $Y_i \times \mathbb{R}$ which interpolate between θ_i and α_i . We choose A_i to be flat on the regions $B^3 \times \mathbb{R}$ used to make the connected sum $(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}$. So the A_i 's match to give a connection $A_1 \# A_2$ over $(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}$ which interpolates from $\theta_0 \# \theta_1$ to $\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1$. By definition, $\mu(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) = Index D_A(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1, \theta_0 \# \theta_1) \mod 8$. Then by equation(2.2)

$$\mu(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) = -2 \int_{Y \times \mathbf{R}} p_1(A_1 \# A_2) - \frac{h_{\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1} - \rho_{\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1}}{2} - \frac{h_{\theta_0 \# \theta_1} + \rho_{\theta_0 \# \theta_1}}{2}$$

where $Y = Y_0 \# Y_1$. From our choice of A_i , $p_1(A_1 \# A_2) = p_1(A_1) + p_1(A_2)$. Since $\rho_{\theta_0 \# \theta_1} = 0$ and $\rho_{\theta_i} = 0$, our result follows from Lemma 2.2.1. Similarly one checks that $\mu(\theta_0 \# \alpha_1) = \mu(\alpha_1)$ and $\mu(\alpha_0 \# \theta_1) = \mu(\alpha_0)$.

Similarly one shows:

Proposition 2.2.3 For all $\beta_i \in \mathcal{R}(Y_i)$ and $\alpha_i \in \mathcal{R}^*(Y_i)$

$$Index D_A(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1, \beta_0 \# \beta_1) = Index D_A(\alpha_0, \beta_0) + Index D_A(\alpha_1, \beta_1) + 3.$$
(2.3)

Theorem 2.2.4 (Fintushel, Stern [12]) Let \mathcal{R}_{α} be a connected component of $\mathcal{R}(Y)$. Suppose that \mathcal{R}_{α} is a manifold, that $\star d_{a}$ is normally nondegenerate on \mathcal{R}_{α} , and let $g : \mathcal{R}_{\alpha} \to \mathbf{R}$ be a Morse function. Then the critical points of g are basis elements of the instanton chain complex. Such a critical point b has grading

$$\mu(b) = \mu(\mathcal{R}_{\alpha}) - \mu_g(b) \tag{2.4}$$

where $\mu_g(\alpha)$ is the Morse index of b relative to g.

We end of this section by giving the following remark which we will use to do calculations in §3 and §4.

Remark: If $1 = \mu(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) - \mu(\beta_0 \# \beta_1) = (\mu(\alpha_0) - \mu(\beta_0)) + (\mu(\alpha_1) - \mu(\beta_1))$, one gets that either $\mu(\alpha_0) - \mu(\beta_0) = 0$ or = 1. This means that if $A_i(i = 0, 1)$ is an anti-self-dual connection interpolating from α_i to β_i then one of the A_i is a constant flat anti-selfdual connection on Y_i ($A_i(t) = \alpha_i \in \mathcal{R}(Y_i)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$) and the other A_j lives in a 1-dimensional moduli space $\mathcal{M}^1_{Y_j}(\alpha_j, \beta_j)$.

Chapter 3

Grafting

The essential step in the calculation of the Floer homology of a connected sum of homology 3-spheres Y_0, Y_1 is in understanding the structure of the 1-dimensional moduli space of anti-self-dual connections on $(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbf{R}$. This relies on grafting together anti-self-dual connections on noncompact 4-manifolds. The major problem is the existence of harmonic 2-forms in the gluing region. The difficult point is obtaining estimates on the overlap relating the "merged" metric with the original metrics g_i on Y_i . For the merged metric gwe will take a weighted average. The usual Rayleigh quotient for first eigenvalue involves the d^{*s} operator, and in order to get a uniform bound on the first eigenvalue on the connected sum from one on each side, we have to compare d^{*s} and d^{*s_i} . These operators involve the derivative term of the weighted average with no control for gluing parameter ε (the neck-length). Thus we adopt Donaldson and Sullivan's technique for building a right inverse directly (cf. [11]).

We begin by looking at a special feature of the **R**-action on the equivalence classes of connections which will give us a particular way of solving the anti-self-duality equation

$$F_A^+ + (d_A^+ + d_A^{*\delta})a + a \wedge a = 0$$

uniquely on the subspace of $\Omega^1_{ad}(Y \times \mathbf{R})$, which is perpendicular to H^1_A . Then we show that for all balanced 1-dimensional self-dual connections on a single homology 3-sphere $\times \mathbf{R}$ there is a uniform lower eigenvalue. Using the parametric method to construct the right inverse on the connected sum and applying the inverse function theorem, we are able to prove a gluing and splitting theorem for 1-dimensional anti-self-dual connections over $(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}$.

Throughout this section we assume that the anti-self-duality operator is regular. (As we have mentioned above, this can always be achieved by a compact perturbation of the anti-self-duality operator. For the sake of simplicity we shall ignore the perturbation.)

3.1 Properties of balanced connections

Let Y be a closed, connected, oriented, smooth homology 3-sphere. For $\delta \ge 0$ (to be determined), let $e_{\delta} : Y \times \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{R}$ be a smooth positive function with $e_{\delta}(y,t) = e^{\delta|t|}$ for $|t| \ge 1$. Let E be an SU(2)-vector bundle over $Y \times \mathbf{R}$ with a translationally invariant metric and metric-preserving connection. Then following [15], [18], [19], and [29], we define the weighted Sobolev space $L_{k,\delta}^p$ on sections ξ of E to be the L_k^p Sobolev space of $e_{\delta} \cdot \xi$. To define Banach manifolds $\mathcal{B}(a, b)$ of paths connecting a and b in \mathcal{B}_Y (the $L_1^2 - SU(2)$ connections over Y modulo L_2^2 -gauge equivalence), choose any smooth representatives of $a, b \in \mathcal{A}_Y$ and a connection C (as below) on $Y \times \mathbf{R}$ which coincides with a for $t \le -1$ and with b for $t \ge 1$. Then

$$\mathcal{A}_{\delta}(a,b) = C + L^{p}_{1,\delta}(\Omega^{1}_{ad}(Y \times \mathbf{R}))$$

is an affine space and is independent of the choice of C. The corresponding gauge group is:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{\delta} &= \{g \in L^{p}_{2,loc}(Y \times \mathbf{R}, SU(2)) \mid \text{there exists } T > 0, \\ \xi \in L^{p}_{2,\delta}(\Omega^{0}_{ad}(Y \times \mathbf{R})) \text{ such that } g = \exp \xi \text{ for } |t| \ge T \} \end{aligned}$$

We need p > 2 to construct the orbit space $\mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}} = \mathcal{A}_{\delta}^{1,p} / \mathcal{G}_{\delta}^{2,p}$.

Proposition 3.1.1 1. Let

$$D_a: L^p_{1,\delta}(\Omega^1 \oplus \Omega^0)(Y, adSU(2)) \to L^p_{0,\delta}(\Omega^1 \oplus \Omega^0)(Y, adSU(2))$$

be the operator $D_a(\alpha,\beta) = (\star d_a \alpha - d_a \beta, -d_a^* \alpha)$. There exists a positive λ_0 such that for all $a \in \mathcal{R}^*(Y)$ the eigenvalues of D_a satisfy $|\lambda(D_a)| \geq \lambda_0$. 2. If F(A) is in L^p for $p \ge 2$, then there is a constant C_A such that

$$\sup |F_A|_{y,t} \leq C_A e^{-\gamma |t|}.$$

where $\gamma = \gamma(\lambda_0) > 0$, and C_A is continuous in A.

Proof: The first is from [15], and the second is in [10] (see 4.1).

Choose a positive $\delta < \min\{\lambda_0, \frac{\gamma}{2}\}$ and a finite action connection C over $Y \times \mathbb{R}$ with limiting values a, b at $Y \times \{\pm \infty\}$, and use it to define the $L_{k,\delta}^p$ norm as above. Let us denote $\|u\|_{L_{1,\delta}^p(A)} = \|\nabla_A u\|_{L_{0,\delta}^p} + \|u\|_{L_{0,\delta}^p}$ (and $\|u\|_{L_{1,\delta}^p} = \|u\|_{L_{1,\delta}^p(C)}$).

Definition 3.1.2 : The balancing function $b: \mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}} \to \mathbb{R}$ is given by the equation:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{b(A)} \|F(A)\|_{L^{2}(Y)}^{2} = \int_{b(A)}^{\infty} \|F(A)\|_{L^{2}(Y)}^{2}.$$

(So the value b(A) is the time which splits the action of A in half.)

Lemma 3.1.3 1. Shifting the connection A in the t-direction, $A(t) \rightarrow A(t \pm s)$, one has

$$b(A(t+s)) = b(A(t)) - s, \quad b(A(t-s)) = b(A(t)) + s$$

- 2. Let $\mathcal{B}_0 = b^{-1}(0)$ be the space of equivalence classes of connections whose action is balanced at 0. Then there is a one-to-one map from \mathcal{B}_0 to $\mathcal{B}_s = b^{-1}(s)$ for any $s \in \mathbb{R}$.
- 3. If A is not a constant flat connection, the derivative of b is

$$D_A b(a) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} < \frac{sign(t-b(a))}{\|F(A)\|_{L^2(Y\times\mathbb{R})}^2} d_A^* F_A, a > .$$

Proof: (1) is proved by a change of variable. (2) follows from (1). For (3):

$$\int_{-\infty}^{b(A+sa)} \|F(A+sa)\|_{L^{2}(Y)}^{2} = \int_{b(A+sa)}^{+\infty} \|F(A+sa)\|_{L^{2}(Y)}^{2}$$

Taking the derivative with respect to s at s = 0 and combining the terms, one has

$$\|F(A)\|_{L^{2}(Y\times\mathbb{R})}^{2}D_{A}b(a) = \int_{b(A)}^{+\infty} \langle d_{A}^{\star}F_{A}, a \rangle - \int_{-\infty}^{b(A)} \langle d_{A}^{\star}F_{A}, a \rangle$$

Now $||F(A)||_{L^2(Y \times \mathbb{R})}^2 = 0$ if and only if $-\frac{\partial a}{\partial t}dt + F_a = 0$, i.e. if and only if A is a constant flat connection, contrary to our hypothesis. Thus (3) follows.

Definition 3.1.4 Set the balanced moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{bal} = \{A \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}} \subset \mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}} | b(A) = 0\}.$

Lemma 3.1.5 For $A \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{bal}$, $y \in Y$, and each $p \geq 2$, there exist constants M_0, C_1, C_2 independent of A such that

(i) If dim $\mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbf{R}} \leq 1$, then $\mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbf{R}}^{bal}$ is compact, and

$$\int_{Y\times\mathbf{R}} e^{p\delta|t|} |F_A|^p < C_1 \qquad \int_{B^3_p(\epsilon)\times\mathbf{R}} e^{p\delta|t|} |F_A|^p < C_2 \varepsilon^3.$$

(ii) If dim $\mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}} < 8$, then $||F_A||_{L^{\infty}(Y \times \mathbb{R})} \leq M_0$.

Proof: (i) No sequence of connections in $\mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{bal}$ can converge weakly to a limit plus an instanton bubble, since bubbling needs dim $\mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}} \geq 8$. The only other way a sequence in $\mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{bal}$ can fail to have a convergent subsequence is for there to exist a subsequence $\{A_n\}$ limiting weakly to a disjoint union of connections $A_{-\infty} \in \mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}(a,b), A_0 \in$ $\mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}(b,c), A_{+\infty} \in \mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}(c,d)$ where a, b, c, d denote limiting values and at least one of of $A_{-\infty}, A_{+\infty}$ is not constant flat (otherwise $\{A_n\}$ actually converges to A_0). If, say, $A_{+\infty}$ is not constant flat then dim $\mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}(c,d) \geq 1$. Since each A_n is balanced, the limit, $A_{-\infty} \amalg A_{0} \amalg A_{+\infty}$ is also balanced, and it follows that dim $\mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}(a,b)$ +dim $\mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}(b,c) \geq$ 1. This is impossible since the dimension of the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}(a,d)$ which contains the A_n is equal to 1. Thus $\mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{bal}$ is compact.

There exists a constant C independent of A such that $C_A \leq C$ for all $A \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}}$ from compactness where C_A is the constant in Proposition 3.1.1(2). The inequalities follow from a straightforward calculation by using $\sup |F_A| \leq Ce^{-\gamma |t|}$.

(ii) Suppose not. Then there exists a sequence $\{A_n\} \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}$ with $||F_{A_n}||_{L^{\infty}(Y \times \mathbb{R})} > n$. Thus we have (y_n, t_n) such that $|F_{A_n}|_{(y_n, t_n)} = n$. Let $A'_n = A_n(t - t_n)$ (rescaling). So $|F_{A'_n}|_{(y_n, 0)} = n$. Applying Uhlenbeck's compactness theorem on the compact space $Y \times [-1, 1]$ shows that there exists a subsequence $\{A_i\}$ with a bubble point, and this requires dim $\mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbf{R}} \geq 8$, contradicting our assumption.

Remark: For any $A \in \mathcal{A}_{\delta}(a, b)$, there is a positive constant $M_{(C,A)}$ such that

$$M_{(C,A)}^{-1} \|u\|_{L^{p}_{1,\delta}(A)} \leq \|u\|_{L^{p}_{1,\delta}} \leq M_{(C,A)} \|u\|_{L^{p}_{1,\delta}(A)}$$

If $A \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}}$ and $\dim \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}} \leq 1$, then $M_{(C,A)} \leq C_4$ where C_4 is a constant independent of A from Lemma 3.1.5.

Proposition 3.1.6 The space $\mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{bal} = \{A \in \mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}} | b(A) = 0\}$ of balanced connections is a smooth manifold with codimension 1 and the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^1$ is transversal to $\mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{bal}$.

Proof: Since an arbitrary $A' \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbf{R}}^1$ is not a constant flat connection, it has a translate A under the **R**-action which lies in $\mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbf{R}}^{\text{bal}}$. Note that $||F_A||^2 \neq 0$. Let A = a(t), then if $0 = d_A^* F_A = -(d_a \star \frac{\partial a}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial \star F_a}{\partial t}) \wedge dt + d_a \star F_a$ we get $\star F_a = 0$. Since A is anti-self-dual $\frac{\partial a}{\partial t} = \star F_a = 0$ and this A is constant flat connection. But this is not true, so the normal vector

$$\frac{sign(t) \cdot d_A^\star F_A}{\|F_A\|^2}$$

to $T\mathcal{B}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}}$ at A is nontrivial. By the implicit function theorem for Banach spaces, we have that $\mathcal{B}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}} = b^{-1}(0)$ is a smooth codimension 1 Banach submanifold, and moreover $D_A b: T_A N \to T_0 \mathbb{R}$ is an isomorphism where $T_A N$ is the subspace of $T_A \mathcal{B}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}$ spanned by this nontrivial normal vector. Notice that derivative of b along $\mathcal{B}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}}$ is zero. We may consider

$$T_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}\cong T_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{\mathrm{bal}}\times T_{\mathcal{A}}N.$$

Since $\mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}} \cong \mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}} \times \mathbb{R}$ and $D_t b(A) = \pm Id$ in the time direction, we may identify $T_A N \cong T_0 \mathbb{R} \cong (T_A \mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}})_t$ the tangent space to $\mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}$ at A in the time direction.

For $A \in \mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}}$, the cohomology H_A^1 is a 1-dimensional space. We claim that it contains $\{A(t+s) : s \in \mathbb{R}\}$. We have

$$H^{1}_{A} = \{A(t) + sa(t) : s \in \mathbf{R}, d^{*s}_{A}a = 0, d^{+}_{A}a = 0\}.$$

Define f(s, u) = A(t) + sa(t) - A(t-u). Then f(0, 0) = 0, and $\frac{\partial f}{\partial u}(0, 0) = A'(t) \neq 0$, since A is not a constant connection. Hence the implicit function theorem gives a local coordinate u = u(s) in a neighborhood of (0, 0) such that f(s, u(s)) = 0. I.e. A(t) + sa(t) = A(t-u(s)) in time-translation form. Let S be the subset of **R** defined by

$$S = \{s \in \mathbb{R} : \text{there exists } u(s) \text{ such that } f(s, u(s)) = 0\}.$$

Then S is nonempty (since it contains 0), open (by the implicit function theorem) and closed (since f(s, u(s)) is continuous in s). Therefore $S = \mathbb{R}$, and so $H_A^1 = \{A(t+s) : s \in \mathbb{R}\}$. Hence H_A^1 intersects $T_A \mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}}$ transversely in the point $\{[A]\}$. The Kuranishi technique then implies that locally, solutions of the anti-self-duality equation live in a 1-dimensional moduli space parameterized by H_A^1 , i.e. by time-translation.

3.2 Smallest eigenvalue on $Y \times \mathbf{R}$

(i) Some analytical facts

Let d_A denote the covariant derivative corresponding to the connection A and $d_A^{*\delta} = e_{\delta}^{-1} d_A^* e_{\delta}$ be the adjoint of d_A with respect to the $L_{0,\delta}^2$ -norm. Floer has proved the following in [15].

- **Proposition 3.2.1 (Floer) (i)** For positive δ , \mathcal{G}_{δ} is a Banach Lie group with Lie algebra (which can be identified with) $L_{2,\delta}^{p}(\Omega_{ad}^{0}(Y \times \mathbf{R}))$.
- (ii) The quotient space $\mathcal{B}_{\delta}(a,b) = \mathcal{A}_{\delta}^*(a,b)/\mathcal{G}_{\delta}$ is a smooth Banach manifold with tangent spaces

$$T_{[A]}\mathcal{B}_{\delta}(a,b) = \{ \alpha \in L^{p}_{1,\delta}(\Omega^{1}_{ad}(Y \times \mathbf{R})) \mid d^{*\delta}_{A} \alpha = 0 \}.$$

- (iii) The 2-form F_A^- representing the anti-self-dual part of the curvature of A is smooth and \mathcal{G}_{δ} -equivariant.
- (iv) If $\delta > 0$ is smaller than the smallest nonzero absolute value of an eigenvalue of D_a or D_b , then for any anti-self-dual connection $A \in \mathcal{B}_{\delta}(a, b)$ the anti-self-duality operator

$$D_A^{\delta} = d_A^{*_{\delta}} \oplus d_A^{+} : L_{1,\delta}^p \Omega_{ad}^1(Y \times \mathbf{R}) \to L_{0,\delta}^p (\Omega_{ad}^0 \oplus \Omega_{ad,+}^2)(Y \times \mathbf{R})$$

is Fredholm. Furthermore, $D_A^{\delta} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + D_{a_t}^{\delta}$ where

$$D_{a_t}^{\delta} = \begin{pmatrix} \star d_a & -d_a \\ -d_a^{\star} & \delta \end{pmatrix}$$

self-adjoint on $\Omega^1_{ad}(Y) \oplus \Omega^0_{ad}(Y)$ where \star is the Hodge operator on the 3-manifold Y. If a and b are irreducible nondegenerate flat connections, then one can take $\delta = 0$.

(v) Let \mathcal{M} be the moduli space of all equivalence classes of nonflat anti-self-dual connections A on $Y \times \mathbb{R}$ whose action $||\frac{\partial A}{\partial t}||_2^2$ is finite. There is a first category set of metrics on Y such that the anti-self-duality operator D_A^{δ} is surjective for all $A \in \mathcal{M} \cap \mathcal{B}_{\delta}$.

Remark: Proposition 3.2.1(v) implies that $(D_A^{\delta})^*$ has trivial kernel. From the ellipticity of the anti-self-duality operator we have

$$C_A \|v \oplus u\|_{L^p_{1,\delta}} \le \|(D^{\delta}_A)^*(v \oplus u)\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}}$$

for $v \oplus u \in (\Omega^0_{ad} \oplus \Omega^2_{ad,+})(Y \times \mathbb{R})$. Thus, for any such $A \in \mathcal{M}^k_{Y \times \mathbb{R}} \cap \mathcal{B}_{\delta}$, by taking p = 2, v = 0, there is a positive real number C(A) such that

$$C(A) \cdot \int_{Y \times \mathbf{R}} e^{2\delta \cdot |t|} |u|^2 \le \int_{Y \times \mathbf{R}} e^{2\delta \cdot |t|} |d_A^{*\delta} u|^2$$
(3.1)

for all $u \in \Omega^2_{ad,+}(Y \times \mathbb{R})$.

The following definitions are combined from [9], [10], and [15].

Definition 3.2.2 : An ideal anti-self-dual connection (trajectory) over $Y \times \mathbf{R}$, of Chern number k, is a pair

$$(A; (x_1, ..., x_l)) \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbf{R}}^{k-l}(a, b) \times S^l(Y \times \mathbf{R})$$

where A is a point in $\mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{k-l}(a, b) \cap \mathcal{B}_{\delta}$ and $(x_1, ..., x_l)$ is a multiset of degree l (unordered l-tuple) of points of $Y \times \mathbb{R}$.

Let $\{A_n\}, n \in \mathbb{N}$, be a sequence of connections of charge k on the SU(2) bundle P over $Y \times \mathbb{R}$. We say that the gauge equivalence classes $\{A_n\}$ converge weakly to a limiting ideal anti-self-dual connection $(A; (x_1, ..., x_l))$ if

(i) The action densities converges as measures, i.e. for any continuous function on $Y \times \mathbf{R}$,

$$\int_{Y\times\mathbb{R}} f|F(A_n)|^2 d\mu \to \int_{Y\times\mathbb{R}} f|F(A)|^2 d\mu + 8\pi^2 \sum_{i=1}^l f(x_i).$$

(ii) there are bundle maps

$$\rho_n: P|_{Y \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{x_1, \dots, x_l\}} \to P|_{Y \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{x_1, \dots, x_l\}}$$

such that $\rho_n^*(A_n)$ converges to A in C^{∞} on compact subsets of the punctured manifold.

Definition 3.2.3: Let a and b be flat SU(2) connections over Y. A chain of connections (B_1, \ldots, B_n) from a to b is a finite set of connections over $Y \times \mathbb{R}$ which limit to flat connections c_{i-1}, c_i as $t \to \pm \infty$ such that $a = c_0, c_n = b$, and B_i connects c_{i-1}, c_i for $0 \le i \le n$.

We say that the sequence $\{A_{\alpha}\} \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{k}(a, b)$ is (weakly) convergent to the chain of connections $(B_{1}, ..., B_{n})$ if there is a sequence of n-tuples of real numbers $\{t_{\alpha,1} \leq ... \leq t_{\alpha,n}\}_{\alpha}$, such that $t_{\alpha,i} - t_{\alpha,i-1} \to \infty$ as $\alpha \to \infty$, and if, for each *i*, the translates $t_{\alpha,i}^{*}A_{\alpha} = A_{\alpha}(o - t_{\alpha,i})$ converge weakly to B_{i} .

We need to combine the notion of chain connection with the notion of an ideal connection.

Definition 3.2.4 : An ideal chain connection joining flat connections a and b over Y is a set

$$(A_j; x_{j1}, ..., x_{jl_j})_{1 \le j \le J}$$

where $(A_j)_{1 \le j \le J}$ is a chain connection and for each j, $(A_j; x_{j1}, ..., x_{jl_j})$ is an ideal connection.

In this set-up, there is a version of the Uhlenbeck compactness theorem. We state it in a form proved by Floer in [15].

Theorem 3.2.5 (Uhlenbeck compactness on $Y \times \mathbf{R}$) Let $A_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbf{R}}^{k} \cap \mathcal{B}_{\delta}(a_{\alpha}, b_{\alpha})$ be a sequence of anti-self-dual connections with uniformly bounded action. Then there exists a subsequence converging to an ideal chain connection

$$(A_j; x_{j1}, ..., x_{jl_j})_{1 \le j \le J}.$$

Moreover, one has

$$\sum_{j=1}^{J} (k_j + l_j) = k, \qquad c_2(A_j) = k_j \text{ (not necessarily an integer)}.$$

(For more discussion and details, we refer the reader to [10] and [15].)

(ii) Smallest eigenvalue estimates

(a) We want to prove the existence of a uniform lower bound for the eigenvalues of $\Delta_A^{2,+}$ for all balanced 1-dimensional anti-self-dual connections A over $Y \times \mathbf{R}$ which are asymptotically flat at the ends.

Theorem 3.2.6 Suppose dim $\mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}} = 1$. Then there exists a positive constant C such that for all $A \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{bal}$, and for all $p \ge 2, u \in L^p_{0,\delta}(\Omega^2_{ad,+}(Y \times \mathbb{R}))$ we have

$$C \cdot \int_{Y \times \mathbf{R}} e^{p \delta \cdot |t|} |u|^p \leq \int_{Y \times \mathbf{R}} e^{p \delta \cdot |t|} |d_A^{*\delta} u|^p.$$

Proof: For p = 2, the result follows from inequality 3.1 and Lemma 3.1.5. For p > 2, we use the inequality in the remark after Proposition 3.2.1 for v = 0. The constant C_A is continuous in A. Hence the result follows by using Lemma 3.1.5.

Remark: The above estimate also holds when A is the trivial connection. On a fixed homology 3-sphere (i.e. with a fixed Riemannian metric) the standard Laplacian on the self-dual 2-forms has a strictly positive first eigenvalue by the Hodge Theorem (see Chapter 5). We can use this to get the bounded right inverse for d^+ . This will allow us to glue one side 1-dimensional trajectory flow together with trivial connection on the other side. (b) The flattening construction: We first describe a special gauge suited to our constructions. Fix $A \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}}$, and choose a trivialization of the fiber at a base point $y \in Y$. Parallel transport first along the R-direction, and then outward in normal coordinates in Y at each fixed time slice. This defines a gauge for $A \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}}$ which we call the cylindrical gauge. In this gauge $A_t = 0$ on $\{y\} \times \mathbb{R}$, and $A_r = 0$ where r is the radius on Y centered at y.

Lemma 3.2.7 In the cylindrical gauge in $B_y^3(\varepsilon) \times \mathbf{R}$, we have $|A(x,t)| \leq r ||F_A||_{\infty}$.

Proof: Let (x_1, x_2, x_3, t) be coordinates in $B_y^3(\varepsilon) \times \mathbb{R}$. For $1 \le i \le 3$, we have $|A_i(x,t)| \le \frac{r}{2} \max_{|(x,t)| \le r} |F(x,t)|$ (c.f. [31]). Since $A_r = \sum_{k=1}^3 x_k A_k = 0$ we get $\sum_{k=1}^3 x_k \frac{\partial A_k}{\partial t} = 0$, thus $\sum_{k=1}^3 x_k F_{kt} = r \frac{\partial}{\partial r} A_t - \sum_{k=1}^3 x_k \frac{\partial A_k}{\partial t} = r \frac{\partial}{\partial r} A_t$. Also $\int_0^r \frac{\partial}{\partial r} A_t = A_t(x,t) - A_t(y,t) = A_t(x,t)$. Thus

$$|A_t(x,t)| \leq |\int_0^r \sum_{k=1}^3 \frac{x_k}{r} F_k t| \leq r \max_{|(x,t)| < r} |F(x,t)|.$$

We next need to describe how to flatten a connection $A \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}}$ along $B_y(r_0) \times \mathbb{R}$. Let $\chi = \chi(r_0, \varepsilon)$ be a smooth cutoff function satisfying

$$\chi \equiv 0$$
 on $B_y(r_0)$, $\chi \equiv 1$ on $Y \setminus B_y(r_0 + \varepsilon)$ and $|d\chi| \leq \frac{C_0}{\varepsilon}$

for some constant C_0 .

Definition 3.2.8 For $A \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{bal}$ define $\tilde{A} \in \mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}$ to be the connection on E which is equal to A outside $B_y(r_0 + \varepsilon)$ and on $B_y(r_0 + \varepsilon)$ is $\tilde{A} = \chi \cdot A$ as connection matrix in the local trivialization of E given by the cylindrical gauge.

Lemma 3.2.9 There exist ε_0 and C (independent of A) such that for $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ and any $A \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{bal}$ with dim $\mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}} \leq 1$ and any $p, q \geq 2$

$$\|\tilde{A} - A\|_{L^q_{0,\delta}(Y \times \mathbb{R})} \le C\varepsilon^{\frac{3+q}{q}}, \qquad \|F^+_{\tilde{A}}\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(Y \times \mathbb{R})} \le C\varepsilon^{\frac{3}{p}}$$

Proof: Take $\chi = \chi(\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ and $\tilde{A} = \chi \cdot A$, we have $F_{\tilde{A}}^+ = (d\chi \wedge A)_+ + (\chi^2 - \chi)(A \wedge A)_+$ since A is anti-self-dual. This has support on $B^3(2\varepsilon) \times \mathbb{R}$, and using Lemma 3.2.7 and **Proposition 3.1.1**, we have the pointwise bound

$$|F_{A}^{+}| \leq C_{0}\varepsilon^{-1}|A| + |A|^{2} \leq C_{0}\varepsilon^{-1}2\varepsilon|F_{A}| + 4\varepsilon^{2}|F_{A}|^{2} \leq C_{0}'|F_{A}| \leq C_{0}'Ce^{-\gamma|t|}$$

where from Lemma 3.1.5 C'_0C is independent of A. Hence

$$\|F_{\tilde{A}}^+\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(Y\times\mathbb{R})} = \left(\int_{B^3(2\varepsilon)\times\mathbb{R}} |e^{\delta|t|}F_{\tilde{A}}^+|^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \le C_2(\delta)\varepsilon^{\frac{3}{p}}.$$

The bound on $\tilde{A} - A$ is similar, $|\tilde{A} - A| \le |A| \le 2\varepsilon |F_A| \le C\varepsilon e^{-\gamma |t|}$. Thus the result follows.

(c) The Neighborhood of $\mathcal{M}_{Y\times \mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}}$: Assume throughout this subsection that dimension of moduli space dim $\mathcal{M}_{Y\times \mathbb{R}} \leq 1$. Fix p, q > 2. We are going to show that the uniform lower eigenvalue estimate also holds for nearby anti-self-dual connections.

Definition 3.2.10 : Set

$$U_{\delta_1} = \{ B \in \mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}} | \text{ there exists a } A \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{bal} \text{ such that } \|A - B\|_{L^q_{0,\delta}} < \delta_1, \|F^+_B\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}} < \delta_1 \}$$

Note that Lemma 3.2.9 implies that if $A \in \mathcal{M}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}}$, then for sufficiently small ε the flattened connection \tilde{A} lies in U_{δ_1} .

Lemma 3.2.11 There exists δ_0 such that for $0 < \delta_1 < \delta_0$ there is a C_5 independent of δ_1 such that

$$\|u\|_{L^p_{1,\delta}(Y\times\mathbb{R})} \le C_5 \|(d^+_B)^{*\delta}u\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(Y\times\mathbb{R})} \quad \text{for all } B \in U_{\delta_1}$$

Proof: $\|(d_B^+)^{*_{\delta}}u\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(Y\times\mathbb{R})} \ge \|(d_A^+)^{*_{\delta}}u\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(Y\times\mathbb{R})} - \|(A-B)*_{\delta}u\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(Y\times\mathbb{R})}$ where A is an element in $\mathcal{M}^{\text{bal}}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}$ which is δ_1 -close to B.

$$\|(A-B)*_{\delta} u\|_{L^{p}_{0,\delta}(Y\times\mathbb{R})} \leq \|A-B\|_{L^{q}_{0,\delta/2}}\|u\|_{L^{4}_{0,\delta/2}} \leq C\delta_{1}\|u\|_{L^{p}_{1,\delta}}$$

by Hölder's inequality and the weighted Sobolev embedding theorem [19].

Since A is anti-self-dual, the Weitzenböck formula gives $d_A^+(d_A^+)^{*s} = \nabla_A^{*s} \nabla_A + R$, which implies that

$$\|u\|_{L^{p}_{1,\delta}} \leq C_{4} \|u\|_{L^{p}_{1,\delta}(A)} \leq C_{4} C(p) \|(d^{-}_{A})^{*_{\delta}} u\|_{L^{p}_{0,\delta}} + C \|u\|_{L^{p}_{0,\delta}} \leq \tilde{C} \|(d^{+}_{A})^{*_{\delta}} u\|_{L^{p}_{0,\delta}}$$
(3.2)

The first inequality is from the remark after Lemma 3.1.5, and the last from Theorem 3.2.6. Choosing δ_0 such that $C\tilde{C}\delta_0 < \frac{1}{2}$, we have

$$\|(d_B^+)^{*_{\delta}} u\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}} \ge \frac{1}{2} \|(d_A^+)^{*_{\delta}} u\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}}$$
(3.3)

Thus from (3.2) and (3.3), we have

$$\|u\|_{L^{\mathbf{p}}_{1,\delta}} \leq \tilde{C} \|(d^{+}_{A})^{*_{\delta}} u\|_{L^{\mathbf{p}}_{0,\delta}} \leq 2\tilde{C} \|(d^{+}_{B})^{*_{\delta}} u\|_{L^{\mathbf{p}}_{0,\delta}}$$

From Lemma 3.2.11 and the weighted Sobolev embedding theorem $L_{1,\delta}^p \hookrightarrow L_{0,\delta}^q$, for $\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{q} \geq \frac{1}{p}$, the bounded right inverse operator $Q_B(=(d_B^+)^{*_{\delta}}(d_B^+(d_B^+)^{*_{\delta}})^{-1})$ satisfies

$$\|Q_B u\|_{L^q_{0,\delta}} \le C \|Q_B u\|_{L^p_{1,\delta}} \le C \|u\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}} \quad \text{for all } B \in U_{\delta_1}.$$

(d) Changing metrics: We want to show that there is also bounded right inverse for flattened connections with metric C^0 close to the original metric. Pick a point $y_0 \in Y_0$. For simplicity we assume that the metric on Y_0 is flat in the 3-ball $B_3(r_0 + \varepsilon)$ centered at y_0 with radius $r_0 + \varepsilon$. For $r_1 < r_0$, let $N_{\varepsilon',r_0,r_1}(g_0)$ be the set of Riemannian metrics g on $Y_0 \setminus B_3(r_1)$ which satisfy

- (i) $g = g_0$ on $Y_0 \setminus B_3(r_0)$;
- (ii) $||g g_0||_{C^0} < \varepsilon'$ on $B_3(r_0) \setminus B_3(r_1)$.

The annulus $B_3(r_0) \setminus B_3(r_1)$ will be used as the gluing region in forming connected sums.

(1) Let π_+^g be the projection onto self-dual 2-forms with respect to the metric g. Note that π_+^g is a continuous map with respect to the metrics, i.e. $\|\pi_+^g - \pi_+^{g_0}\| \le C \|g - g_0\|_{C^0}$.

(2) For the metric g_0 on Y_0 , there is right inverse Q_0 for the operator $d_{\bar{A}_0}^{+s_0}$. Let $S = d_{\bar{A}_0}^{-s_0} Q_0$. Then

$$d_{A_0}^{+s_0}Q_0u_0 = u_0, \quad \|Su_0\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(g_0)} \leq C_p \|u_0\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(g_0)}.$$

where $\|\cdot\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(g_0)}$ indicates the Sobolev space with metric g_0 for forms with support in $(Y_0 \setminus B_3(r_1)) \times \mathbb{R}$.

(3) For $g \in N_{\epsilon',r_0,r_1}(g_0)$, the $L_{0,\delta}^p$ -norms are equivalent, i.e.

$$C_{e'}^{-1} \|u_0\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(g_0)} \le \|u_0\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(g)} \le C_{e'} \|u_0\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(g_0)}$$

where $C_{\epsilon'} \to 1$ as $\epsilon' \to 0$.

Lemma 3.2.12 For self-dual 2-forms u_0 with support in the $(Y_0 \setminus B_3(r_1)) \times \mathbb{R}$ and $g \in N_{\epsilon',r_0,r_1}(g_0)$ with sufficiently small ϵ' , $d_{\overline{A_0}}^{+g}$ has right inverse Q_0^g with

$$\|Q_0^g u\|_{L^p_{1,\delta}(g)} \leq C \|u\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(g)}.$$

Also, $\|Q_0^g u\|_{L^q_{0,\delta}(g)} \leq C \|u\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(g)}$ for $\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{q} \geq \frac{1}{p}$.

Proof: We will construct the right inverse by arranging that $d_{\tilde{A}_0}^{+g}Q_0 - Id$ is a contraction mapping on $L_{0,\delta}^p(g)(\Omega_+^2(Y_0 \times \mathbb{R}))$. We have $d_{\tilde{A}_0}^{+g}Q_0u_0 = d_{\tilde{A}_0}^{+g_0}Q_0u_0 + (d_{\tilde{A}_0}^{+g} - d_{\tilde{A}_0}^{+g_0})Q_0u_0$ and from (2)

$$(d_{A_0}^{+g}Q_0 - Id)u_0 = (d_{A_0}^{+g} - d_{A_0}^{+g_0})Q_0u_0.$$

By the definitions of g and the flattening construction for A_0 with $\chi|_{[0,r_0]} \equiv 0$, one has

$$d_{\hat{A}_{0}}^{+g}-d_{\hat{A}_{0}}^{+g_{0}}=d^{+g}-d^{+g_{0}}=(\pi_{+}^{g}-\pi_{+}^{g_{0}})(d^{+g_{0}}+d^{-g_{0}}).$$

From (1), (2), and (3) above we have

$$\|(d_{\hat{A}_{0}}^{+}Q_{0}-Id)u_{0}\|_{L_{0,\delta}^{p}(g)} \leq CC_{\epsilon'}^{2}\varepsilon'(1+C_{p})\|u_{0}\|_{L_{0,\delta}^{p}(g)}$$

For ε' small enough that $CC_{\varepsilon'}^2 \varepsilon'(1+C_p) < \frac{1}{2}$, the operator $d_{A_0}^{+g}Q_0$ is invertible, and the right inverse for $d_{A_0}^{+g}$ is $Q_0^g = Q_0(d_{A_0}^{+g}Q_0)^{-1}$.

For $B \in U_{\delta_1}$ and $g \in N_{\epsilon',r_0,r_1}(g_0)$, we also get a bounded right inverse for the operator $d_B^{+,\epsilon}$ by combining the proof of Lemma 3.2.11 and Lemma 3.2.12.

3.3 Structure of the trajectory flow on the connected sum

(i) Forming the connected sum

(a) Let Y_i be an oriented homology 3-sphere with Riemannian metrics g_i , i = 0, 1. Choose basepoints $y_i \in Y_i$ and suppose for simplicity that the metrics g_i on Y_i are flat in neighborhoods of the y_i . Using these flat metrics we identify neighborhoods of the points y_i in Y_i with neighborhoods of zero in the tangent spaces $T_{y_i}Y_i$. Precisely, for any real numbers $\varepsilon, T > 0$, we set $N_{y_i}(\varepsilon, T) = \{(r, \theta): T^{-1}\varepsilon \leq r \leq T\varepsilon\} \subset T_{y_i}Y_i \setminus \{0\}$, where ε eventually will be made small and T(>1) is another parameter (to be fixed later in the proof) with $T\varepsilon$ less than half the radius of injectivity of y_i . Then define

$$f_{\varepsilon,T}: N_{y_0}(\varepsilon,T) \longrightarrow N_{y_1}(\varepsilon,T)$$

by $f_{\varepsilon,T}(r,\theta) = (-r + T\varepsilon + T^{-1}\varepsilon, \theta)$. Let $U_i \subset Y_i$ be the annulus centered at y_i with inner radius $r_1 = T^{-1}\varepsilon$ and outer radius $r_0 = T\varepsilon$. The "linear inversion" map $f_{\varepsilon,T}$ taking the inner radius of U_0 to the outer radius of U_1 induces an orientation-reversing diffeomorphism from U_0 to U_1 . Let $Y'_i \subset Y_i$ be the open set obtained by removing the $T^{-1}\varepsilon$ ball about y_i . Then, in the usual sense, we define the connected sum $Y = Y(\varepsilon, T)$ to be

$$Y = Y_0 \# Y_1 = Y'_0 \cup_{f_{\epsilon,T}} Y'_1$$

where the annuli U_i are identified by $f_{\varepsilon,T}$.

(b) Let $(Y_i, g_i), i = 0, 1$, be oriented Riemannian 3-manifolds as in (a). To construct a Riemannian metric on $Y_0 \# Y_1$, we fix a cutoff function, $\phi \in C^{\infty}([0, +\infty))$, which satisfies

$$\phi|_{[0,T^{-1}\epsilon]} \equiv 0, \quad \phi(\frac{T+T^{-1}}{2}\epsilon) = \frac{1}{2}, \quad \text{and} \quad \phi|_{[T\epsilon,+\infty)} \equiv 1.$$

Definition 3.3.1 : The Riemannian metric g on the connected sum $Y_0 # Y_1$ is defined as follows:

On $Y_i \setminus B_{y_i}(T\varepsilon)$, set $g = g_i$ for i = 0, 1.

On the overlap annulus $N_{y_0}(\varepsilon, T) \cong N_{y_1}(\varepsilon, T)$, $g = \phi g_0 + (1-\phi) f_{\varepsilon,T}^* g_1 = \phi g_0 + f_{\varepsilon,T}^*(\phi g_1)$ (because of the linearity of $f_{\varepsilon,T}$).

Lemma 3.3.2 Let ε' be the constant of Lemma 3.2.12. There exists $T_0 > 1$ such that for all $1 < T \leq T_0 \exists \varepsilon$ with $T\varepsilon < \frac{1}{2}$ injectivity radius, we have $N_{\varepsilon',T\varepsilon,T^{-1}\varepsilon}(g_i) \neq \emptyset$. Furthermore we have $N_{\varepsilon',T\varepsilon,T^{-1}\varepsilon}(g_0) \cap N_{\varepsilon',T\varepsilon,T^{-1}\varepsilon}(g_1) \neq \emptyset$. **Proof:** We just use the metric from Definition 3.3.1 and calculate the C^0 norm of $g - g_0$ on the annular region.

$$g_{rr} = (g_0)_{rr}$$
 $g_{\theta\theta} = \{\phi + (1-\phi)(-1+\frac{(T+T^{-1})\varepsilon}{r})^2\}(g_0)_{\theta\theta}$

Then $\forall T \leq T_0$

$$||g - g_0||_{C^0} \le \max\{T^4 - 1, |T^{-4} - 1|\}$$

Choose T_0 close to 1 enough to make $||g - g_0||_{C^0} \leq \varepsilon'$. Then the result follows.

Remark: Lemma 3.3.2 tells us that we may glue the two manifolds by an orientationreversing isometry on the tiny overlap region. Therefore for forms u supported on Y'_i , we have

$$\frac{1}{2} \|u\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(g_i)(Y'_i)} \le \|u\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(g)(Y_0 \# Y_1)} \le 2\|u\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}(g_i)(Y'_i)}$$

(c) We next use the SU(2)-bundles P_i over Y_i to define a bundle P over Y. Using the projection map $\pi_1 : Y_i \times \mathbb{R} \to Y_i$, we pull back the bundles P_i to get bundles $\pi_1^*(P_i)$ over $Y_i \times \mathbb{R}$. Let A_0 be a flat connection on $Y_0 \times \mathbb{R}$, constant in the sense that $A_0(t) = \alpha \in \mathcal{R}(Y_0)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$, and let A_1 be an anti-self-dual trajectory from β to γ (i.e. a anti-self-dual connection lying in a one dimensional moduli space) on $Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}$. Set $\tilde{A}_i = \chi A_i$, i = 0, 1 (using the flattening procedure on each side as in section 3.2 (ii) (b) with $\chi = \chi(T\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$).

Choose an SU(2)-isomorphism of the fibers:

$$\rho:(P_0)_{\mathbf{y}_0}\longrightarrow (P_1)_{\mathbf{y}_1}$$

Using the flat structures \tilde{A}_i (both are flat on the overlap), we can spread out this isomorphism by parallel transport to give a bundle isomorphism g_{ρ} between the P_i over the identified part (an annulus or conformally spherical tube) covering $f_{\varepsilon,T}$. We call such a bundle isomorphism g_{ρ} a gluing map. Use this gluing map to construct a bundle $P_0 \cup_{\rho} P_1$ over $Y = Y_0 \#_{\varepsilon,T} Y_1$ and also the pull-back bundle $\pi_1^*(P_0 \cup_{\rho} P_1) = E(\rho)$ over $Y \times \mathbb{R}$. The gluing map g_{ρ} respects the connections \tilde{A}_i so we get an induced connection, $A_{\rho} = A_0 \#_{\rho} A_1$ on $E(\rho)$. Thus $A_{\rho} = A_0 \#_{\rho} A_1$ is \tilde{A}_i on $(Y_i \setminus B_3(T^{-1}\varepsilon)) \times \mathbb{R}$. Note that A_{ρ} is trivial over the region identified by the gluing map. The connections A_{ρ} , for different ρ , are not in general gauge equivalent (even though the bundles $E(\rho)$ are obviously isomorphic). Let Γ_{A_i} be the isotropy group of A_i over $Y_i \times \mathbf{R}$ and let $\Gamma = \Gamma_{A_0} \times \Gamma_{A_1}$. The equivalence classes of connections constructed in this way are in one-to-one correspondence with

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{SU(2)}((P_0)_{y_0}, (P_1)_{y_1}) = SU(2)/\Gamma,$$

the space of "gluing parameters". When the A_i are irreducible, $\Gamma = \{\pm 1\}$ so the space of gluing parameters is SO(3).

The following proposition can be found in the text of Donaldson and Kronheimer ([9] page 286, for a proof see [6] Lemma 4.31, page 314).

Proposition 3.3.3 The connections A_{ρ_1} , A_{ρ_2} are gauge equivalent if and only if the parameters ρ_1 , ρ_2 are in the same orbits of the action of Γ on SU(2).

The following proposition follows from the above Lemma 3.3.2 and Lemma 3.2.12. Recall the constants ε_0 of Lemma 3.2.9 and T_0 of Lemma 3.3.2.

Proposition 3.3.4 For $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ and $1 < T < T_0$, there is a constant C independent of ε such that the operator $d_{A_\rho}^{+s}$ has a bounded right inverse G with

$$\|Gu\|_{L^{p}_{1,\delta}(g)(Y_{0}\#_{\epsilon,T}Y_{1})} \leq C \|u\|_{L^{p}_{0,\delta}(g)(Y_{0}\#_{\epsilon,T}Y_{1})}$$

and

$$||Gu||_{L^q_{0,\delta}(g)} \leq C ||u||_{L^p_{0,\delta}(g)} \quad \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{q} \geq \frac{1}{p}.$$

Proof: The right inverse for $d_{A_i}^{+g}$ is Q_i^g . Then using the definition of A_ρ , we define $Gu = Q_0^g u_0 + Q_1^g u_1$ which is the right inverse for the operator $d_{A_\rho}^{+g}$. Here $u_0 = \eta u, u_1 = (1 - \eta)u$ and η is a smooth cutoff function on the annulus $U_0 \cap U_1$ which obeys $\eta|_{[0,T^{-1}e]} = 0$ and $\eta|_{\{Te \leq r\}} = 1$.

(ii) Gluing and splitting

Our goal is to deform the "almost anti-self-dual" connection A_{ρ} to a nearby anti-selfdual connection $A_{\rho} + a_{\rho}$. This entails solving the non-linear anti-self-duality equation

$$F^+(A_{\rho}) + d^+_{A_{\rho}}a + (a \wedge a)_+ = 0.$$

The upshot of Proposition 3.3.4 is that we are able to solve the linearized anti-self-duality equation $d_A^+ u = b$ over $Y = Y_0 \#_{\epsilon,T} Y_1$, as long as A is irreducible $(H_A^0 = 0)$ and regular $(H_A^2 = 0)$, and furthermore there are estimates on the solution of the corresponding linearized equation which are independent of ε . We shall use the inverse function theorem to deform the almost anti-self-dual connection A_{ρ} .

Lemma 3.3.5 (c.f. [15]) Let $f : E \to F$ be a C^1 map between Banach spaces. Assume that in the first order Taylor expansion $f(\xi) = f(0) + Df(0)\xi + N(\xi)$, Df(0) has a finite dimensional kernel and a right inverse G such that for $\xi, \zeta \in E$

$$||GN(\xi) - GN(\zeta)||_{E} \le C(||\xi||_{E} + ||\zeta||_{E})||\xi - \zeta||_{E}$$

for some constant C. Let $\delta_1 = (8C)^{-1}$. Then if $||Gf(0)||_E \leq \frac{\delta_1}{3}$, there exists a C¹-function

$$\phi: K_{\delta_1} \to ImG$$

with $f(\xi + \phi(\xi)) = 0$ for all $\xi \in K_{\delta_1}$ and furthermore we have estimate

$$\|\phi(\xi)\|_E \leq \frac{4}{3}\|Gf(0)\|_E + \frac{1}{3}\|\xi\|_E$$

where $K_{\delta_1} = KerDf(0) \cap \{\xi \in E : \|\xi\|_E < \delta_1\}.$

Applying Lemma 3.3.5 to $f(a) = F^+(A_\rho) + d^+_{A_\rho}a + (a \wedge a)_+$ with $f(0) = F^+(A_\rho), N(a) = (a \wedge a)_+, Df(0) = d^+_{A_\rho}$ (with the bounded right inverse G from the Proposition 3.3.4), $E = L^p_{1,\delta} \cap L^q_{0,\delta}(T_{A_\rho}\mathcal{B})$ and $F = L^p_{0,\delta}(\Omega^2_+(Y \times \mathbf{R}, ad))$, we have the following

Theorem 3.3.6 Let $Y_i(i = 0, 1)$ be homology 3-sphere and $A_i \in \mathcal{M}_{Y_i \times \mathbb{R}}^{bal}$. Assume $\dim \mathcal{M}_{Y_0 \times \mathbb{R}} = 0$, $\dim \mathcal{M}_{Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}} = 1$. Let ε_0 be the constant of Lemma 3.2.9. Then if $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ and $1 < T < T_0, (T_0 \text{ is choosed from Lemma 3.3.2})$ we can deform A_ρ to a smooth anti-self-dual connection over $(Y_0 \#_{\varepsilon,T} Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}$.

Proof: Using Proposition 3.3.4 and Lemma 3.2.9, we have

$$\|GF^+(A_{\rho})\|_{L^q_{0,\delta}} \le C\|F^+(A_{\rho})\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}} \le C(\|F^+(\tilde{A}_0)\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}} + \|F^+(\tilde{A}_1)\|_{L^p_{0,\delta}} \le C_3\varepsilon^{\frac{3}{p}}$$

and $N(a) - N(b) = ((a - b) \wedge a)_+ + (b \wedge (a - b))_+$. We use weighted Hölder inequality and Lemma 7.2 in [19]

$$\|((a-b)\wedge a)_{+}\|_{L^{p}_{0,\delta}} \leq \|a-b\|_{L^{q}_{0,\frac{\delta}{2}}} \|a\|_{L^{4}_{0,\frac{\delta}{2}}} \leq C_{\delta}\|a-b\|_{L^{q}_{0,\delta}} \|a\|_{L^{q}_{0,\delta}}$$

where $C_{\delta} = c(\operatorname{Vol}(Y_0) + \operatorname{Vol}(Y_1) + 1)/\delta$. So

$$\|GN(a) - GN(b)\|_{L^{q}_{0,\delta}} \leq CC_{\delta} \|a - b\|_{L^{q}_{0,\delta}} (\|a\|_{L^{q}_{0,\delta}} + \|b\|_{L^{q}_{0,\delta}}).$$

Thus by Lemma 3.3.5 with $\delta_1 = (8CC_{\delta})^{-1}$, there exist $\phi : H^1_{A_{\rho}} \to \text{Im}G$ with $f(\xi + \phi(\xi)) = 0$, here $\phi(A_{\rho}) = a_{\rho}$. So $A_{\rho} + a_{\rho}$ is anti-self-dual connection over $(Y_0 \#_{\epsilon,T} Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}$ with $\|a_{\rho}\|_{L^{q}_{0,\delta}}$ small, and is smooth by standard elliptic regularity (cf.[21]).

Remarks: (i) The restriction on dimensions of moduli spaces is from Lemma 3.2.9 and Proposition 3.3.4 to be able to get the bounded right inverse. Also from the proof above we can glue two 1-dimensional anti-self-dual connections into a 2-dimensional anti-self-dual connection.

(ii) Using the remark after Theorem 3.2.6 and the construction in Proposition 3.3.4, we also can deform the $A_0 # A_1$ into anti-self-dual connection when one of A_i is trivial.

To incorporate the gluing parameter SO(3), we apply the parameterized version of Lemma 3.3.5 which states that the solution depends smoothly on the parameters and is well-behaved under gauge transformations (see [5] Chapter X). That gives the description of a model for an open subset in the moduli space $\mathcal{M}^1_{Y_0 \notin Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}}$.

Theorem 3.3.7 Given a constant flat anti-self-dual connection A_0 and a 1-dimensional anti-self-dual connection A_1 with each D_{A_i} surjective in the weighted Sobolev space, then for small enough ε and all gluing parameters ρ , there is a smooth anti-self-dual connection $(A_0 \#_{\rho} A_1) + a_{\rho}(t)$. If ρ_1, ρ_2 are in the same orbit under the Γ action on the space of gluing parameters SU(2), the corresponding anti-self-dual connections are gauge equivalent. The restrictions on ε and T imposed in Theorem 3.3.6 mean that the "neck" region of the connected sum must be narrow with very small radius. Conversely, when our metric satisfies these conditions, we can characterize the anti-self-dual solutions found by our gluing construction. Define

$$Gl_{\epsilon}: \mathcal{M}_{Y_0 \times \mathbb{R}}^{i_0} \times SO(3) \times \mathcal{M}_{Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}}^{i_1} \to \mathcal{B}_{(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}}$$

by $Gl_{\epsilon}(A_0, \rho, A_1) = A_0 \#_{\rho} A_1$ as in §3.3 (i) (c), where $i_0 \ge 0, i_1 \ge 0, i_0 + i_1 = 1$. Now for $\delta_2 > 0$ in the proof of Theorem 3.3.6, let $U_{\delta_2}(\epsilon) \subset \mathcal{B}_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}$ be the open set

$$U_{\delta_{2}}(\varepsilon) = \{A | \inf_{B \in \mathrm{Im}Gl_{\varepsilon}} ||A - B||_{L^{q}_{0,\delta}(g)((Y_{0} \#_{\varepsilon,T}Y_{1}) \times \mathbf{R})} < \delta_{2}, ||F^{+}_{A}||_{L^{p}_{0,\delta}(g)((Y_{0} \#_{\varepsilon,T}Y_{1}) \times \mathbf{R})} < \delta_{2}\}.$$

The solutions to the anti-self-duality equation obtained from Theorem 3.3.6 lie in $U_{\delta_2}(\varepsilon)$, and any element in U_{δ_2} can be deformed to a unique anti-self-dual connection by Lemma 3.3.5 (The uniqueness follows from the contraction mapping principle on $T\mathcal{B}_{Y\times \mathbf{R}}^{\mathrm{bal}}$).

Theorem 3.3.8 For ε , T as in Theorem 3.3.6, any point in $U_{\delta_2}(\varepsilon) \cap \mathcal{M}_{Y_0 \# Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}}^1(g_{\varepsilon})$ can be represented by a connection A of the form $A_0 \#_{\rho} A_1 + \phi(A_0 \#_{\rho} A_1)$ where A_i is (0 or 1)-dimensional anti-self-dual connection on $\mathcal{M}_{Y_i \times \mathbb{R}}$ and ϕ is the C^1 -diffeomorphism in the proof of Theorem 3.3.6 with $\|\phi(A_0 \#_{\rho} A_1)\|_{L_{0,A}^q} < \delta_2$.

Proof: Suppose the contrary. Then there exists a sequence $\varepsilon_n \to 0$ with $\varepsilon_n < \varepsilon_0$, $\{[A_n]\} \in U^c_{\delta_2}(\varepsilon_n) \cap \mathcal{M}^1_{Y_0 \# Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}}(g_{\varepsilon_n})$ where $U^c_{\delta_2}(\varepsilon_n)$ is complement of U_{δ_2} , i.e. A_n are not in such a form.

By Uhlenbeck's compactness theorem applied to the balanced anti-self-dual connections, we have a subsequence converging to $A_0 \vee A_1$, where A_i is a anti-self-dual connection on $(Y_i \setminus \{y_i\}) \times \mathbb{R}$ (since 1-dimensional moduli space is compact up to time-translation by Lemma 3.1.5). The connection A_i has a singularity along a line $\{y_i\} \times \mathbb{R}$. Since this is codimension 3, it can be removed by Sibner's theorem [26]. Let the extended anti-selfdual connections still be denoted by A_i . By the flattening construction, for small enough ε_n we have

$$\tilde{A}_i(\varepsilon_n) = \chi(T\varepsilon_n, \varepsilon_n)A_i \text{ with } \|\tilde{A}_i(\varepsilon_n) - A_i\|_{L^q_{0,\delta}(g_n)(Y_i \times \mathbf{R})} < \frac{\delta_2}{8},$$

and let $A_{\rho}(\varepsilon_n) = A_0 \#_{\rho,\varepsilon_n} A_1$ as in §3.3 (i) (c). Then

$$\|A_n - A_{\rho}(\varepsilon_n)\|_{L^q_{0,\delta}(g_n)((Y_0 \#_{\varepsilon_n,T} Y_1) \times \mathbb{R})}$$

$$\leq \|A_{n} - \tilde{A}_{0}(\varepsilon_{n})\|_{L_{0,\delta}^{q}(g_{n})((Y_{0} \setminus B_{3}(T^{-1}\varepsilon_{n})) \times \mathbb{R})} + \|A_{n} - \tilde{A}_{1}(\varepsilon_{n})\|_{L_{0,\delta}^{q}(g_{n})((Y_{1} \setminus B_{3}(T^{-1}\varepsilon_{n})) \times \mathbb{R})}$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=0}^{1} \|A_{n} - A_{i}\|_{L_{0,\delta}^{q}(g_{n})((Y_{i} \setminus B_{3}(T^{-1}\varepsilon_{n})) \times \mathbb{R})} + \|\tilde{A}_{i}(\varepsilon_{n}) - A_{i}\|_{L_{0,\delta}^{q}(g_{n})((Y_{i} \setminus B_{3}(T^{-1}\varepsilon_{n})) \times \mathbb{R})}$$

For *n* large enough we have $||A_n - A_i||_{L^q_{0,\delta}(g_n)((Y_i \setminus B_3(T^{-1}\varepsilon_n)) \times \mathbb{R})} < \frac{\delta_2}{8}$ from convergence. Thus $||A_n - A_\rho(\varepsilon_n)||_{L^q_{0,\delta}(g_n)((Y_0 \#_{\varepsilon_n,T}Y_1) \times \mathbb{R})} < \frac{\delta_2}{2}$. Since $A_n \in \mathcal{M}^1_{(Y_0 \#_{\varepsilon_n,T}Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}}(g_n)$, of course $F^+(A_n) = 0$, so we have $A_n \in U_{\frac{\delta_2}{3}}(\varepsilon_n)$ which contradicts $A_n \in U^c_{\delta_2}(\varepsilon_n)$.

Thus for sufficiently small ε , a 1-dimensional moduli space can be represented by the one deformed from the gluing process.

Corollary 3.3.9 Under the assumption of Theorem 3.3.8, there is a unique small solution to the anti-self-duality equation. So $U_{\delta_2}(\varepsilon) \cap \mathcal{M}^1_{Y_0 \# Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}}$ is equal to the image of the gluing map.

This is the main analytic result of this thesis. We summarize this section in the following **Theorem 3.3.10** Suppose A_i is an anti-self-dual connection on $Y_i \times \mathbf{R}$, and we consider the connected sums $Z = (Y_0 \#_{e,T} Y_1) \times \mathbf{R}$ for fixed $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0, 1 < T < T_0$. Then for sufficiently small ε one has maps

$$\bigsqcup_{i+i'=1} \mathcal{M}^{1}_{Y_{i}\times\mathbb{R}}(\alpha_{i},\beta_{i})\times_{SO(3)} \mathcal{M}^{0}_{Y_{i'}\times\mathbb{R}}(\gamma_{i'},\gamma_{i'}) \xrightarrow{\text{Gluing}} \mathcal{M}^{1}_{Z}(\alpha_{i}\#\gamma_{i'},\beta_{i}\#\gamma_{i'})$$

and

$$\mathcal{M}^{1}_{Z}(\alpha_{i} \# \gamma_{i'}, \beta_{i} \# \gamma_{i'}) \xrightarrow{\text{Splitting}} \bigsqcup_{i+i'=1} \mathcal{M}^{1}_{Y_{i} \times \mathbb{R}}(\alpha_{i}, \beta_{i}) \times_{SO(3)} \mathcal{M}^{0}_{Y_{i'} \times \mathbb{R}}(\gamma_{i'}, \gamma_{i'})$$

which are inverse maps to each other.

Note that the splitting operation takes an anti-self-dual connection $A \in \mathcal{M}_{Y_0 \# Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}}^1$ with asymptotic values $\alpha_i \# \gamma_i$, to $\beta_i \# \gamma_i$, one obtained by deforming $A_0 \#_\rho A_1$ where

$$(A_i, A_{i'}) \in \mathcal{M}^1_{Y_i \times \mathbb{R}}(\alpha_i, \beta_i) \times \mathcal{M}^0_{Y_{i'} \times \mathbb{R}}(\gamma_{i'}, \gamma_{i'})$$

and they are glued together by constant (in **R**) gluing parameter $\rho \in SO(3)$.

Chapter 4

The Floer homology of $Y_0 \# Y_1$

4.1 General properties of the Floer homology of $Y_0 \# Y_1$

From Chapter 2 we know that the nontrivial representations of $\pi(Y_0 \# Y_1)$ in SU(2) fall into two classes: the nondegenerate representations $\alpha_0 \# \theta_1, \theta_0 \# \alpha_1$ and the degenerate representations $\alpha_0 \#_{\rho} \alpha_1, \rho \in SO(3)$. From Lemma 2.2.2 we have the gradings $\mu(\theta_0 \# \alpha_1) \equiv$ $\mu(\alpha_1), \mu(\alpha_0 \# \theta_1) \equiv \mu(\alpha_0)$ and $\mu(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) \equiv \mu(\alpha_0) + \mu(\alpha_1) \pmod{8}$. To compute the Floer homology we first need to perturb the SO(3) components $C(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) = \{\alpha_0 \#_{\rho} \alpha_1 \mid \rho \in$ $SO(3)\}$ to make the critical points nondegenerate. This is accomplished as follows. (See [12]).

Each $\mathcal{C}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$ is a smooth closed submanifold of $\mathcal{B}_{Y_0 \# Y_1}$; so we have the following exact sequence which splits in L^2 :

$$0 \to T\mathcal{C}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) \to T\mathcal{B}_{Y_0 \# Y_1}|_{\mathcal{C}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)} \to N\mathcal{C}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) \to 0.$$

The Chern-Simons Hessian is degenerate along $TC(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$ but is nondegenerate in the normal direction. Identify the normal bundle $N(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$ of $C(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$ with the total space of $NC(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$, and let

$$N_{\varepsilon}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) = \{ u \in N\mathcal{C}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) \mid \|u\|_{L^2} < \varepsilon \}.$$

Let $\varepsilon_1 < \varepsilon_2$ and define a cutoff function χ on $\mathcal{B}_{Y_0 \# Y_1}$ such that $\chi = 1$ on $N_{\varepsilon_1}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$ and $\chi = 0$ on the complement of $N_{\varepsilon_2}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$. Let $\pi : N(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) \to C(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$ be the projection. Let $g: SO(3) \to \mathbb{R}$ be the standard Morse function with one critical point in each dimension. Set $\varepsilon_3 = (\varepsilon_2 - \varepsilon_1)^2$ and define

$$E(a) = \varepsilon_3 \chi(a) \cdot g(\pi(a)) : \mathcal{B}_{Y_0 \# Y_1} \to \mathbf{R}$$

and let e be the L^2 gradient of E. On $N_{\epsilon_1}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$ we have $e = \nabla g$, on the complement of $N_{\epsilon_2}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1), e = 0$, and on $N_{\epsilon_2}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) \setminus N_{\epsilon_1}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$:

$$\|e(a)\|_{C^{0}} \geq \varepsilon_{3}(\|d\chi\|\|g(a)\|_{C^{0}} - |\chi|\|\nabla g(a)\|_{C^{0}}) \geq \varepsilon_{3}(\frac{C}{\varepsilon_{2} - \varepsilon_{1}}\|g(a)\|_{C^{0}} - \|\nabla g(a)\|_{C^{0}})$$

This points out that provided we choose $\varepsilon_2 - \varepsilon_1$ sufficiently small, there will be no critical point of e inside $N_{\varepsilon_2}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) \setminus N_{\varepsilon_1}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$. Set $\tilde{f}(a) = *F_a + e(a)$ over $\mathcal{B}_{Y_0 \# Y_1}$. In [12] Lemma 4.1 it is shown that the zeros of \tilde{f} are the zeros of $*F_a$ outside of $N_{\varepsilon_2}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$ and inside $N_{\varepsilon_2}(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$ they are the critical points of g, and all zeros of \tilde{f} are nondegenerate.

After performing this perturbation for each $C(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)$ in $\mathcal{R}(Y_0 \# Y_1)$, the Floer chain groups $C_j(Y_0 \# Y_1)$ are the free abelian groups generated by elements

- $\cdot \alpha_0 \# \theta_1$ in grading $\mu(\alpha_0)$.
- $\cdot \theta_0 \# \alpha_1$ in grading $\mu(\alpha_1)$.
- $(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)_j$ in grading $\mu(\alpha_0) + \mu(\alpha_1) j$, j = 0, 1, 2, 3.
- (See §2 and [12].)

The boundary operator of $C_*(Y_0 \# Y_1)$ is computed by counting the trajectory flow line spaces $\hat{\mathcal{M}}^1_{Y_0 \# Y_1}(a, b)$ for a, b generators in the list above.

We start with a graded differential group $C_* = \bigoplus_q C_q$, $q \in Z_8$, with $\partial C_q \subset C_{q-1}$, where $C_q = \{a \in \mathcal{R}^*(Y_0 \# Y_1) | \ \mu(a) = q\}$. There is an associated filtration compatible with the grading, $F_p C_q \subset F_{p+1} C_p$ (increasing filtration). Define the $F_p C_*$ as follows:

$$F_pC_* = \bigoplus_{k \leq p} \{ Z < a > | a = (a_0 \# a_1)_j, \ \mu(a_0 \# a_1) = k, \ a_i \in \mathcal{R}(Y_i), i = 0, 1 \}.$$

Note that the perturbed Chern-Simons functional is non-decreasing along the gradient flows (anti-self-dual connections). It follows that Floer's boundary map $\partial : F_pC_q \hookrightarrow$ F_pC_{q-1} preserves the filtration. Because $\mathcal{R}^*(Y_0 \# Y_1)$ is compact each $E_{p,q}^1$ is finitely generated. Note that $\alpha_0 \# \theta_1$ generates a free Z-summand of $E_{p,q}^1$ for $p = \mu(\alpha_0), q = 0$, similarly $\theta_0 \# \alpha_1$ gives a free Z-summand of $E_{p,q}^1$ for $p = \mu(\alpha_1), q = 0$. An SO(3) component coming from $\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1$ gives free Z-summands of $E_{p,q}^1$ for $p = \mu(\alpha_0) + \mu(\alpha_1)$ and q = 0and -3, and a Z₂-summand $E_{\mu(\alpha_0)+\mu(\alpha_1),-2}^1$.

In particular the filtration is bounded. Since $\bigcup F_p C_* = C_*$ we get a spectral sequence.

Theorem 4.1.1 There is a (fourth quadrant) spectral sequence with

$$E_{p,q}^1 \cong H_{p+q}(F_pC_*/F_{p-1}C_*)$$

which converges to $HF_*(C_*, \partial)$.

Clearly $d_r = 0$ for $r \ge 5$, i.e. the spectral sequence $(E_{*,*}^r, d_r)$ collapses at 5th term. Therefore $E_{*,*}^5$ gives the graded Floer homology $HF_*(C_*(Y_0 \# Y_1), \partial)$. The next section will be devoted to a complete description of d_1 which will be enough to calculate some examples. The description of d_2 , d_4 will be the subject of a future paper. We end up this section by showing $d_3 = 0$.

Proposition 4.1.2 In the spectral sequence $(E_{*,*}^r, d_r)$ built from the filtration of Floer's chain complex for connected sums of homology 3-spheres, the third differential map d_3 : $E_{p,q}^3 \rightarrow E_{p-3,q+2}^3$ is zero.

Proof: Note that $E_{p,q}^1 = 0$ for q > 0 and $q \le -4$. Also, we have seen above that $E_{p,-1}^1 = 0$. So the only possible nonzero case is $d_3 : E_{p,-2}^3 \to E_{p-3,0}^3$. Suppose $d_3(\alpha \# \beta)_2 = n(\alpha' \# \beta')_0 \neq 0$. Then for the boundary operator ∂ of $C_*(Y_0 \# Y_1)$, the coefficient of $(\alpha' \# \beta')_0$ in $\partial(\alpha \# \beta)_2$ is $n \neq 0$. Then $\partial^2(\alpha \# \beta)_1 = 2\partial(\alpha \# \beta)_2 \neq 0$, which is impossible.

4.2 Description of d_1

We are going to define two special maps which are not used in the definition of Floer homology.

Definition 4.2.1 $d: C_1(Y) \rightarrow Z < \theta >$ is defined by

$$d\alpha = \#\hat{\mathcal{M}}^1(\alpha,\theta)\theta$$

and $\delta: Z < \theta > \rightarrow C_4(Y)$ is defined by

$$\delta \boldsymbol{\theta} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\beta} \in C_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}(Y)} \# \hat{\mathcal{M}}^{1}(\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\beta}) \boldsymbol{\beta}.$$

Lemma 4.2.2 $d\partial = 0$, $\partial \delta = 0$.

Proof: This is proved in [10]. The proof is similar to the proof that $\partial^2 = 0$ in the Floer complex.

Let $\partial_i : C_*(Y_i) \to C_{*-1}(Y_i), i = 0, 1$ be the boundary map of the Floer chain complexes of $Y_i, i = 0, 1$. The main result of this section is a description of d_1 for the spectral sequence of filtration built from the Floer chain complex $C_*(Y_0 \# Y_1)$. Our result is:

Theorem 4.2.3 The differential d_1 of the spectral sequence $(E_{*,*}^1, d_1)$ for the Floer chain complex $C_*(Y_0 \# Y_1)$ is given in terms of the listed basis in §4.1 by

$$d_1 = \partial_0 \otimes Id_1 \pm Id_0 \otimes \partial_1 \pm \partial_3 + d \otimes Id_1 \pm Id_0 \otimes d + \delta \otimes Id_1 \pm Id_0 \otimes \delta,$$

where ∂_3 is boundary map of the standard cellular chain complex of SO(3).

The notation in Theorem 4.2.3 and the determination of signs can best be explained by two simple examples:

$$d_1(\alpha \# \beta)_i = (\partial_0 \alpha \# \beta)_i + (-1)^{\mu(\alpha)} (\alpha \# \partial_1 \beta)_i + (-1)^{\mu((\alpha \# \beta)_i)} \partial_3 (\alpha \# \beta)_i$$
$$d_1(\alpha_0 \# \theta_1) = \partial_0 \alpha \# \theta_1 + (-1)^{\mu(\alpha)} (\alpha_0 \# \delta \theta_1)_0.$$

We have extended our notation here in the obvious way: $(\sum m_j \gamma_j) \# \beta = \sum m_j (\gamma_j \# \beta)$.

Theorem 4.2.3 gives a full description of d_1 . It is built from the contributions from each homology 3-sphere and the gluing parameter space SO(3). The trivial connections of both homology 3-spheres also contribute via the special maps $d_i, \delta_i, i = 0, 1$. Now we proceed to the proof of Theorem 4.2.3. Let $\alpha \#_{\rho_i}\beta$ correspond to $(\alpha \#\beta)_i$, where ρ_i is in the gluing parameter space SO(3). For the boundaries in the Floer chain complex we only consider 1-dimensional trajectory flows with finite action. Fix metrics g_0, g_1 and parameters ε, T which satisfy the hypotheses of Theorem 3.3.6 and Theorem 3.3.8. This fixes a metric on $Y_0 \# Y_1$ by §3.3 (i) (b). If $A_1 \in \mathcal{M}^1_{Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}}(\beta, \gamma)$ and $A_0 \in \mathcal{M}^0_{Y_0 \times \mathbb{R}}(\alpha, \alpha)$ is constant, $A_0(t) = \alpha$, then for fixed $\rho \in SO(3)$, Theorem 3.3.6 gives a unique element in $\mathcal{M}_{(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}}(\alpha \#_{\rho}\beta, \alpha \#_{\rho}\gamma)$ and the Splitting Theorem 3.3.8 gives the converse. Therefore we have

$$#\hat{\mathcal{M}}^{1}_{(Y_{0} \# Y_{1}) \times \mathbf{R}}(\alpha \#_{\rho}\beta, \alpha \#_{\rho}\gamma) = #\hat{\mathcal{M}}^{1}_{Y_{1} \times \mathbf{R}}(\beta, \gamma).$$

Let $\hat{\mathcal{M}}_{(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}}^{1, \varepsilon_3}$ denote the quotient of the moduli space of perturbed anti-self-dual connections by time-translation. We want to show that

$$#\hat{\mathcal{M}}_{(Y_0 \neq Y_1) \times \mathbf{R}}^{1, \varepsilon_3}(\alpha \#_{\rho}\beta, \alpha \#_{\rho}\gamma) = #\hat{\mathcal{M}}_{(Y_0 \neq Y_1) \times \mathbf{R}}^1(\alpha \#_{\rho}\beta, \alpha \#_{\rho}\gamma).$$

The following proposition says that the compact perturbation we used in the construction neither changes the algebraic number of trajectory flows between critical points $\alpha \#_{\rho}\beta$ and $\alpha \#_{\rho}\gamma$ nor does it create new 1-dimensional trajectory flows.

Proposition 4.2.4 For ε_3 sufficiently small, we have

(1) If $\mathcal{M}^1_{Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}}(\beta, \gamma) \neq \emptyset$, then for $\rho \in SO(3)$ a critical point for the Morse function $g: SO(3) \to \mathbb{R}$

$$#\hat{\mathcal{M}}_{(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}}^{1,e_3}(\alpha \#_{\rho}\beta, \alpha \#_{\rho}\gamma) = #\hat{\mathcal{M}}_{(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}}^1(\alpha \#_{\rho}\beta, \alpha \#_{\rho}\gamma).$$
(2) If $\mathcal{M}_{Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}}^1(\beta, \gamma) = \emptyset$, then $\mathcal{M}_{(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}}^{1,e_3}(\alpha \#_{\rho_0}\beta, \alpha \#_{\rho_1}\gamma) = \emptyset.$

Proof: (1) Using the identification between trajectory flows and anti-self-dual connections, we consider the bundle $\mathcal{A}_{(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}}^{\text{bal}} \times_{\mathcal{G}} \Omega^2_+((Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}, ad) \to \mathcal{B}_0(\alpha \# \beta, \alpha \# \gamma)$. The self-dual curvature F_A^+ induces a section of this bundle whose zeros are

$$\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{(Y_0 \neq Y_1) \times \mathbf{R}}(\alpha \neq \beta, \alpha \neq \gamma) = \mathcal{M}_{(Y_0 \neq Y_1) \times \mathbf{R}}(\alpha \neq \beta, \alpha \neq \gamma)/\mathbf{R}$$

For 1-dimensional anti-self-dual connections, this is a finite set of points. The orientation on these points is precisely the orientation on the trajectory flow used in defining the boundary map of Floer homology. Thus the algebraic number of zeros of F_A^+ is $#\hat{\mathcal{M}}^{1}_{(Y_{0}\#Y_{1})\times\mathbb{R}}(\alpha\#\beta,\alpha\#\gamma).$ Consider a trajectory with asymptotic values $\alpha\#_{\rho}\beta,\alpha\#_{\rho}\gamma.$ Consider $s \in I = [0,1]$

$$\Psi_{s,A}: I \times \mathcal{B}_0(\alpha \#_\rho \beta, \alpha \#_\rho \gamma) \to I \times \mathcal{A}^{\text{bal}}_{(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}}(\alpha \#_\rho \beta, \alpha \#_\rho \gamma) \times_{\mathcal{G}} \Omega^2_+((Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}, ad)$$
$$(s, A) \longmapsto F_A^+ + \Psi_A + s\Phi_A$$

where $\Phi_A = \frac{1}{2}(*_g e(a(t)) + e(a(t)) \wedge dt)$, and where $\Psi_A = \psi(a(t))$ is a perturbation constructed so that $\Psi_{s,A}$ has transverse zeros. For s = 1, the zeros of $F_A^+ + \Psi_A + \Phi_A$ are the solutions of the perturbed anti-self-duality equation

$$\frac{\partial a(t)}{\partial t} - *_g F_{a(t)} - \psi(a(t)) - e(a(t)) = 0.$$

Let $\mathcal{M}^{1,s}$ denote the zeros of $\Psi_{s,A}$. Then $0, 1 \in I$ are regular values of the projection $\pi_1 : \mathcal{M}^{1,s} \to I$ since the 1-dimensional moduli space is transverse to \mathcal{B}_0 by Proposition 3.1.6. So the parametrized moduli space $\mathcal{M}^{1,s}$ is a one dimensional submanifold of $I \times \mathcal{B}_0(\alpha \#_\rho \beta, \alpha \#_\rho \gamma)$ with oriented boundary components $-\mathcal{M}^{1,0}$ and $\mathcal{M}^{1,1}$. Each $\mathcal{M}^{1,s}$ is compact by [15, Theorem 3]. This means that $\mathcal{M}^{1,0}$ and $\mathcal{M}^{1,1}$ are oriented cobordant; so (1) follows.

(2) Suppose $\mathcal{M}_{Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}}^1(\beta, \gamma) = \emptyset$ but there exists a 1-dimensional trajectory flow between $\alpha \#_{\rho_0}\beta, \alpha \#_{\rho_1}\gamma$ after performing our perturbations. We have a solution A_{ϵ_3} of the perturbed anti-self-duality equation, and A_{ϵ_3} lives in a 1-dimensional moduli space with asymptotic values $\alpha \#_{\rho_0}\beta, \alpha \#_{\rho_1}\gamma$. So $F_{A_{\epsilon_3}}^+ = -\frac{1}{2}(e(a_{\epsilon_3}(t)) + e(a_{\epsilon_3}(t)) \wedge dt)$. We have

$$\|GF^+_{A_{\epsilon_3}}\|_{L^q_{0,\ell}} \leq \|Ge(a_{\epsilon_3}(t))\|_{L^q_{0,\ell}} \leq C \cdot \varepsilon_3.$$

The last inequality holds because we have a uniform bound for G by Proposition 3.3.4 and because in constructing our perturbation, we have used a smooth Morse function. By choosing ε_3 small enough so that $C \cdot \varepsilon_3 \leq \frac{\delta_1}{3}$, then we can (by Lemma 3.3.5 and Theorem 3.3.6) deform A_{ε_3} to an anti-self-dual connection A with asymptotic values $\alpha \#_{\rho_0}\beta, \alpha \#_{\rho_1}\gamma$. For any metric on $Y_0 \# Y_1$ for which the splitting Theorem 3.3.10 holds, A is obtained from $A_0 \#_{\rho}A_1$ where $A_0 \in \mathcal{M}_{Y_0 \times \mathbb{R}}^0(\alpha, \alpha)$ and $A_1 \in \mathcal{M}_{Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}}^1(\beta, \gamma)$. This contradicts the hypothesis. **Proposition 4.2.5** For generators a, b of $C_{\bullet}(Y_0 \# Y_1)$, elements of $\hat{\mathcal{M}}^{1,\epsilon_3}_{(Y_0 \# Y_1)}(a, b)$ (1dimensional trajectory flow lines) occur only as follows:

1. If both α_k, β_k are irreducible, there is a 1-dimensional trajectory from $(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)_i$ to $(\beta_0 \# \beta_1)_j$ if and only if i = j and either

(i) $\alpha_0 = \beta_0$ and there is a 1-dimensional trajectory from α_1 to β_1 , or (ii) $\alpha_1 = \beta_1$ and there is a 1-dimensional trajectory from α_0 to β_0 .

- 2. There is a 1-dimensional trajectory from $(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)_i$ to $\beta_0 \# \theta_1$ if and only if $\alpha_0 = \beta_0$ and there is a 1-dimensional trajectory from α_1 to θ_1 and i = 0. A similar statement holds for $\theta_0 \# \beta_1$.
- 3. There is a 1-dimensional trajectory from $\alpha_0 \# \theta_1$ to $(\beta_0 \# \beta_1)_j$ if and only if $\alpha_0 = \beta_0$ and there is a 1-dimensional trajectory from θ_1 to β_1 and j = 0. A similar statement holds for $\theta_0 \# \alpha_1$.
- 4. There is a 1-dimensional trajectory from $\alpha_0 \# \theta_1$ to $\beta_0 \# \theta_1$ if and only if there is a 1-dimensional trajectory from α_0 to β_0 . A similar statement holds for $\theta_0 \# \alpha_1$ and $\theta_0 \# \beta_1$.
- 5. There is no 1-dimensional trajectory from $\alpha_0 \# \theta_1$ to $\theta_0 \# \beta_1$ or from $\theta_0 \# \alpha_1$ to $\beta_0 \# \alpha_1$.

Proof: (1) It follows from the proof of Proposition 4.2.4 and the remark after it, that for $\rho \in SO(3)$

$$#\hat{\mathcal{M}}_{(Y_0\#Y_1)\times\mathbb{R}}^{1,\varepsilon_3}((\alpha_0\#\alpha_1)_i,(\beta_0\#\beta_1)_j)=#\hat{\mathcal{M}}_{(Y_0\#Y_1)\times\mathbb{R}}^1(\alpha_0\#_\rho\alpha_1,\beta_0\#_\rho\beta_1).$$

For any metric on $Y_0 \# Y_1$ for which Theorem 3.3.10 can be applied, we have that any $A \in \mathcal{M}^1_{(Y_0 \# Y_1) \times \mathbb{R}}(\alpha_0 \#_{\rho} \alpha_1, \beta_0 \#_{\rho} \beta_1)$ is obtained from $A_0 \#_{\rho} A_1$ where $A_k, k = 0, 1$ which are (0 or 1)-dimensional anti-self-dual connections in $\mathcal{M}_{Y_k \times \mathbb{R}}$. Hence $\alpha_k = \beta_k$ or there is a 1-dimensional trajectory flow from α_k to β_k which is realized by A_k . So

$$0 \leq \mu(\alpha_k) - \mu(\beta_k) \leq 1$$

and

$$\mu((\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1)_i) - \mu((\beta_0 \# \beta_1)_j) = 1, \quad \mu(\alpha_0 \# \alpha_1) - \mu(\beta_0 \# \beta_1) = 1.$$

Therefore we have that i = j and one side is constant and the other comes from a 1dimensional trajectory flow. (2), (3) and (4) follow by a similar argument.

(5) By Theorem 3.3.8, there is no 1-dimensional trajectory flow from $\alpha_0 \# \theta_1$ to $\theta_0 \# \beta_1$.

A straightforward calculation shows:

Lemma 4.2.6 $\partial_i \partial_3 = \partial_3 \partial_i, i = 0, 1.$

Proof of Theorem 4.2.3: In Proposition 4.2.5, we have listed all possibilities for 1dimensional trajectory flows. So the boundary map for $C_{\bullet}(Y_0 \# Y_1)$ includes all possibilities. We need to check that $d_1^2 = 0$.

(1) For basis element $(\alpha \# \beta)_i$ with α, β both irreducible, we have

$$d_1(\alpha \# \beta)_i = (\partial_0 \alpha \# \beta)_i + (-1)^{\mu(\alpha)} (\alpha \# \partial_1 \beta)_i + (-1)^{\mu(\alpha \# \beta)_i} \partial_3 (\alpha \# \beta)_i$$

(a) If $\mathcal{M}_{Y_0 \times \mathbb{R}}^1(\alpha, \theta_0) = \emptyset$ and $\mathcal{M}_{Y_1 \times \mathbb{R}}^1(\beta, \theta_1) = \emptyset$, by the definition of d_1 we have $d_1^2(\alpha \# \beta)_i = \partial[(\partial_0 \alpha \# \beta)_i] + \partial[(-1)^{\mu(\alpha)}(\alpha \# \partial_1 \beta)_i] + \partial[(-1)^{\mu(\alpha \# \beta)_i}\partial_3(\alpha \# \beta)_i] =$

$$\begin{aligned} &(\partial_{0}^{2} \alpha \# \beta)_{i} + (-1)^{\mu(\partial_{0}\alpha)} ((\partial_{0} \alpha \# \partial_{1}\beta)_{i} + (-1)^{\mu(\partial_{0}\alpha \# \beta)_{i}} \partial_{3} ((\partial_{0} \alpha \# \beta)_{i}) \\ &+ (-1)^{\mu(\alpha)} \{ (\partial_{0} \alpha \# \partial_{1}\beta)_{i} + (-1)^{\mu(\alpha)} (\alpha \# \partial_{1}^{2}\beta)_{i} + (-1)^{\mu((\alpha \# \partial_{1}\beta)_{i})} \partial_{3} ((\alpha \# \partial_{1}\beta)_{i}) \} \\ &+ (-1)^{\mu(\alpha \# \beta)_{i}} \{ \partial_{3} (\partial_{0} \alpha \# \beta)_{i} + (-1)^{\mu(\alpha)} \partial_{3} (\alpha \# \partial_{1}\beta)_{i} + (-1)^{\mu((\partial_{3} (\alpha \# \beta)_{i}))} \partial_{3}^{2} ((\alpha \# \beta)_{i}) \} \end{aligned}$$

We use Lemma 4.2.6 in the last equality. Clearly it shows $d_1^2(\alpha \# \beta)_i = 0$.

(b) If $\mathcal{M}^{1}_{Y_{0} \times \mathbb{R}}(\alpha, \theta_{0}) \neq \emptyset$ and $\mathcal{M}^{1}_{Y_{1} \times \mathbb{R}}(\beta, \theta_{1}) = \emptyset$. Note that $\partial_{3}(\partial_{0}\alpha \# \beta) = 0$. By Proposition 4.2.5 (2), i = 0 in this case. Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} d_{1}^{2}(\alpha \# \beta)_{0} &= (d\partial_{0}\alpha \# \beta) + (\partial_{0}\alpha \# \partial_{1}\beta) \\ &+ (-1)^{\mu(\alpha)}(\partial_{0}\alpha \# \partial \beta) + (-1)^{2\mu(\alpha)}(\alpha \# \partial_{1}^{2}\beta)_{0} + (-1)^{\mu(\alpha)+\mu((\alpha \# \partial_{1}\beta)_{0})}\partial_{3}(\alpha \# \partial_{1}\beta)_{0} \\ &+ (-1)^{\mu(\alpha \# \beta)_{0}}\partial_{3}((\partial_{0}\alpha \# \beta) + (-1)^{\mu(\alpha)}(\alpha \# \partial_{1}\beta)_{0}) + (-1)^{\mu(\alpha \# \beta)_{0}+\mu(\partial_{3}(\alpha \# \beta)_{0})}\partial_{3}^{2}(\alpha \# \beta)_{0} \end{aligned}$$

Then it shows that $d_1^2(\alpha \# \beta)_0 = 0$. For $\partial_0 \alpha \neq \theta_0$, $\partial_1 \beta = \theta_1$ and $\partial_0 \alpha = \theta_0$, $\partial_1 \beta = \theta_1$, the $d_1^2 = 0$ follows from a similar argument.

(2) For another kind of basis like $\alpha_0 \# \theta_1$ or $\theta_0 \# \alpha_1$, We verify one of them, $\alpha_0 \# \theta_1$. The other one is similar. By Proposition 4.2.5 we have

$$d_1(\alpha_0 \# \theta_1) = \partial_0 \alpha_0 \# \theta_1 + (-1)^{\mu(\alpha_0)} (\alpha \# \delta \theta_1)_0.$$

Based on the definition of Floer homology, the trivial connection $\theta_0 \# \theta_1$ of $Y_0 \# Y_1$ is not taken into account. So $\partial_0 \alpha_0 \neq \theta_0$.

$$d_1^2(\alpha_0 \# \theta_1) = \partial_0^2 \alpha \# \theta_1 + (-1)^{\mu(\partial_0 \alpha_0)} (\partial_0 \alpha_0 \# \delta \theta_1)_0$$
$$+ (-1)^{\mu(\alpha)} (\partial_0 \alpha \# \delta \theta_1)_0 + (\alpha \# \partial_1 \delta \theta_1)_0 + (-1)^{\mu(\alpha) + \mu((\alpha \# \delta \theta_1)_0)} \partial_3(\alpha_0 \# \delta \theta_1)_0.$$

Using the definition of ∂_3 , Lemma 4.2.2 and Lemma 4.2.6, we have the differential d_1 satisfying $d_1^2 = 0$.

4.3 Examples

Even with our formulas of §4.1, examples remain difficult to compute since it is an extremely nontrivial problem for a fixed homology sphere Y to compute all possible 1dimensional moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^1(\alpha,\beta), \mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^1(\alpha,\theta), \mathcal{M}_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^1(\theta,\alpha).$

Example 1: Calculation of $HF_*(\Sigma(2,3,5)\#\Sigma(2,3,5))$

Let us consider the connected sum of the Poincaré 3-sphere with itself. The Floer homology of the Poincaré 3-sphere is generated by $\alpha \in C_1, \beta \in C_5$ $(\dim \mathcal{M}_Y(\alpha, \theta) =$ $1, \dim \mathcal{M}_Y(\beta, \theta) = 5)$ with all the boundary differentials trivial, so for $\Sigma(2, 3, 5)$:

$$C_1 = HF_1 \cong Z, \quad C_5 = HF_5 \cong Z, \quad C_j = HF_j = 0, \quad j \neq 1,5 \pmod{8}.$$

This follows from work of Fintushel and Stern [12].

Proposition 4.3.1 Let Y be the Poincaré 3-sphere $\Sigma(2,3,5)$ and let α be the irreducible representation with $\mu(\alpha) = 1$. Then the 1-dimensional moduli space of anti-self-dual connections with asymptotic values α, θ (denoted by $\mathcal{M}_Y^1(\alpha, \theta)$) is nonempty and $\#\mathcal{M}_Y^1(\alpha, \theta) = \pm 1$, where "#" denotes a count with sign.

Proof: Let X be the 4-manifold obtained by plumbing the (negative definite) E_8 -diagram. Then $\partial X = Y$. The intersection form of X is the form E_8 . Let P be the principal SO(3)bundle over X with $p_1 = 2$ and w_2 represented by the Poincaré dual of one of the 2-spheres corresponding to the nodes of the E_8 -diagram. The moduli space $\mathcal{M}_X(\theta)$ of anti-self-dual connections with asymptotic value trivial (θ) on the boundary Y has dimension one. There are two kinds of ends of $\mathcal{M}_X(\theta)$. The first corresponds to reducible anti-self-dual connections on P. These are in one to one correspondence with

$$\{\pm e \in H^2(X,Z) | e^2 = -2, e \equiv w_2(P) \pmod{2}\}.$$

There is a unique such reducible anti-self-dual connection (cf.[13]). The other ends come from splittings $\mathcal{M}_X^0(\alpha) \# \mathcal{M}_Y^1(\alpha, \theta)$, where $\mathcal{M}_X^0(\alpha)$ is a compact zero dimensional moduli space with asymptotic value α . Let $n_\alpha = \# \mathcal{M}_X^0(\alpha)$. Thus $\mathcal{M}_X(\theta)$ is an oriented (see [7]) 1-dimensional manifold whose noncompact components fall into two classes. First, those components such that neither end comes from a reducible connection. Each end of such a moduli space corresponds to an $\mathcal{M}_Y^1(\alpha, \theta)$ which contributes $\pm n_\alpha$ to the counting $\# \mathcal{M}_Y^1(\alpha, \theta)$. The other end of this same component of $\mathcal{M}_X(\theta)$ contributes $\mp n_\alpha$ to the count; so they cancel out. There is one other noncompact component of $\mathcal{M}_X(\theta)$ with ends corresponding to the unique reducible anti-self-dual connection on P and the remaining component of $\mathcal{M}_Y^1(\alpha, \theta)$. Thus $\# \mathcal{M}_Y^1(\alpha, \theta) = \pm 1$.

We next want to calculate $HF_*(\Sigma(2,3,5)\#\Sigma(2,3,5))$ by using the spectral sequence. From §4.1 we have $E^1_{*,*}$ as in the figure. As we described in §4.2, $\partial_i = 0, \delta_i = 0, i = 0, 1$ and the only nontrivial contribution is from $d_{Y_i}\alpha = \pm \theta$ and ∂_3 from the gluing parameter SO(3). I.e. $d_1 = 1 \otimes d_{Y_1} \pm d_{Y_0} \otimes 1 + \partial_3$. Thus we have

$$\begin{split} E_{1,0}^2 &= Z < \alpha \# \theta \pm \theta \# \alpha >, \qquad E_{2,0}^2 = Z < (\beta \# \beta)_2 >, \\ E_{p,-2}^2 &= Z \oplus Z, \text{ for } p = 2, 6, \qquad E_{p,-1}^2 = Z_2 \oplus Z_2 \text{ for } p = 2, 6, \\ E_{p,q}^2 &= 0 \text{ otherwise.} \end{split}$$

Obviously, $d_2 = 0$ and $d_3 = 0$ as well from Proposition 4.1.2. Thus $E_{*,*}^2 = E_{*,*}^3 = E_{*,*}^4$. The $d_4 : E_{6,-3}^4 \to E_{2,0}^4$ is the only possible nontrivial differential. But $E_{2,0}^4$ is generated



by $(\beta \# \beta)_2$ and dim $\mathcal{M}(\alpha \# \beta, \beta \# \beta) = -4$, so $d_4 = 0$. Hence the spectral sequence is convergent at $E^2_{*,*}$.

Theorem 4.3.2 For the connected sum of Poincaré 3-sphere with itself, the Floer homology is

 $HF_0 = Z_2 \oplus Z_2, \quad HF_1 = Z, \quad HF_2 = Z, \quad HF_3 = Z \oplus Z$ $HF_4 = Z_2 \oplus Z_2, \quad HF_5 = 0, \quad HF_6 = 0, \quad HF_7 = Z \oplus Z$

Note that this theorem shows that Floer homology is not in general 4-periodic.

Example 2: Calculation of $HF_*(\Sigma(2,3,7)\#\Sigma(2,3,7))$

From [12], we have

 $HF_1(\Sigma(2,3,7)) = C_1(\Sigma(2,3,7)) = Z < a >, \quad HF_5(\Sigma(2,3,7)) = C_5(\Sigma(2,3,7)) = Z < b >$

 $\dim \mathcal{M}_{\Sigma(2,3,7)}(a,\theta) \equiv 3, \quad \dim \mathcal{M}_{\Sigma(2,3,7)}(b,\theta) \equiv 7, \quad \dim \mathcal{M}_{\Sigma(2,3,7)}(b,a) \equiv 4, \mod 8,$ and we get

$$HF_0 = Z_2 \oplus Z_2$$
 $HF_1 = 0$ $HF_2 = Z$ $HF_3 = Z \oplus Z \oplus Z$

$$HF_4 = Z_2 \oplus Z_2 \quad HF_5 = 0 \quad HF_6 = Z \quad HF_7 = Z \oplus Z \oplus Z$$

Example 3: Calculation for $HF_*(\Sigma(2,3,5)\#\Sigma(2,3,7))$.

An easy calculation shows

 $HF_0 = Z \quad HF_1 = Z \oplus Z \oplus Z \quad HF_2 = Z_2 \oplus Z_2 \quad HF_3 = 0$ $HF_4 = Z \quad HF_5 = Z \oplus Z \oplus Z \oplus Z \quad HF_6 = Z_2 \oplus Z_2 \quad HF_7 = 0.$

Chapter 5

On spectral properties

5.1 The Laplacian on a connected sum

As we have explained in section 2, in order to calculate the Floer homology for a connected sum, one has to cut and paste anti-self-dual connections by cut-off functions which make the connection trivial on the tube $S^2 \times I \times \mathbf{R}$. Then the uniform lower boundedness of the Laplacian on anti-self-dual 2-forms on the tube plays an important role for solving the resulting anti-self-duality equation for the glued connection. We will show that the uniform lower bound on the tube goes to 0 as we stretch the length of the interval I to ∞ .

We consider a homology 3-sphere Y with an open 3-ball, $B_y(r)$, removed, where r is the radius of the ball centered at y, and boundary of this manifold is a 2-sphere S^2 . Let $\Omega^p(Y \setminus B_y(r), S^2)$ denote the space of smooth p-forms on $Y \setminus B_y(r)$ which vanish on S^2 , and let Δ^p be the Laplacian acting on p-forms.

- **Lemma 5.1.1** 1. The operator $\Delta^p : L^2_2(\Omega^p(Y \setminus B_y(r), S^2)) \to L^2_0(\Omega^p(Y \setminus B_y(r), S^2))$ is injective.
 - 2. The volume form ω_0 of S^2 is the unique generator for $H^2_{dR}(S^2 \times I)$, up to a constant.

We omit the proof, which follows from Hodge theory.

Suppose Y_0 and Y_1 are oriented homology 3-spheres with Riemannian metrics which are flat in fixed small balls. We use an identification of these balls to define a connected sum $Y_0 \# Y_1$. Thus if we have locally oriented Euclidean coordinates ξ centered at $y_0 \in Y_0$ and η at $y_1 \in Y_1$, the identification map on an annular region is given by the conformal equivalence $\eta = f_{\epsilon}(\xi) = \epsilon^2 \xi/|\xi|^2$. Here $\xi \to \overline{\xi}$ is any reflection and ϵ is a parameter which will eventually be made sufficiently small. We introduce another parameter N such that $N \cdot \epsilon$ is less than the radius of injectivity of both Y_0 and Y_1 .

Let $U_i \subset Y_i$ be the annulus centered at y_i with inner radius $N^{-1}\varepsilon$ and outer radius $N\varepsilon$. The conformal equivalence map induces a diffeomorphism from U_0 to U_1 . We let $Y'_i \subset Y_i$ be the open set obtained by removing the $N^{-1}\varepsilon$ ball about y_i . Then, in the usual sense, we define the connected sum $Y = Y(\varepsilon)$ to be

$$Y = Y_0 \# Y_1 = Y'_0 \cup_{f_e} Y'_1$$

where the annuli U_i are identified by f_e .

We shall also need to use another model for the connected sum. This depends on the conformal equivalence:

$$d: S^2 \times \mathbf{R} \longrightarrow R^3 \setminus \{0\}$$

given in 'polar coordinates' by $d(s,t) = s \cdot e^t$. Under this map the annulus U with radii $N\varepsilon, N^{-1}\varepsilon$ goes over to the tube $d^{-1}(U) = S^2 \times (\log \varepsilon - \log N, \log \varepsilon + \log N)$. Thus we can think of the connected sum as being formed by deleting the points y_i from Y_i , regarding punctured neighborhoods as half cylinders and identifying the cylinders by a reflection. (See [9])

From this point of view, we are working with the manifold $Y_i \setminus B_{y_i}(N^{-1}\varepsilon)$ and in the annular region we relabel the length by shifting $\log \varepsilon$ units and setting $T = \log N$. Thus we have identified the annular region with the tube $S^2 \times [-T, T]$. Define a smooth cut-off function β with support in [-T, T] and $\beta = 1$ on $[-T + \varepsilon, T - \varepsilon]$.

Proposition 5.1.2 Let $(Y \setminus B_y(r), \partial)$ be a homology 3-sphere with a 3-ball removed and fix a cut-off function β on the neck as above. Then there exists a unique $\eta \in \Omega^2(Y \setminus B_y(r), \partial)$ such that

$$\Delta \eta = -\beta'' \omega_0$$

 $\eta = 0 \quad on \quad \partial$

Remarks:

- 1. Δ is the Laplacian on $\Omega^2(Y \setminus B_y(r), \partial)$. To prove this proposition we shall need minimize the Lagrangian $L(\eta) = \int_{Y_0} |d\eta|^2 + |d^*\eta|^2 + 2\beta'' \omega_0 \wedge *\eta$, whose formal variational equation is the equation we expect to solve.
- 2. Injectivity of the Laplacian gives the nonzero first eigenvalue

$$\lambda_1 = \inf \frac{\|d^*\eta\|_{L^2}^2 + \|d\eta\|_{L^2}^2}{\|\eta\|_{L^2}^2} > 0.$$

We also have the Poincaré inequality

$$\int_{Y_0} \eta \wedge *\eta \leq C \cdot \int_{Y_0} d\eta \wedge *d\eta + d^*\eta \wedge *d^*\eta.$$

Proof: The proof will follow the standard variational minimizing method which will give us a weak solution and then elliptic regularity will imply that the solution is smooth. This will give $\eta_0 \in C^{\infty}(\Omega^2(Y \setminus B_y(r), \partial))$ and $\Delta \eta_0 = -\beta'' \omega_0$. So $\Delta(\beta \omega_0 - \eta_0) = 0$, $(\beta \omega_0 - \eta_0)|_{\partial} = \omega_0$. So $\beta \omega_0 - \eta_0$ is a harmonic 2-form with the correct boundary condition for patching the harmonic 2-forms together. We will follow the proof in [21] page 294 and [25].

We first show that for $\eta \in L^2_2(\Omega^2(Y \setminus B_y(r), \partial))$, the Lagrangian

$$L(\eta) = \int_{Y \setminus B_{\mathbf{y}}(\mathbf{r})} |d\eta|^2 + |d^*\eta|^2 + 2\beta'' \omega_0 \wedge *\eta$$

has a lower bound. Because the inequality $2ab \leq t^{-1}a^2 + tb^2$ holds for all positive t we have

$$|2(-\beta''\omega_0,\eta)| \le t^{-1} || - \beta''\omega_0 ||_{L^2}^2 + t ||\eta||_{L^2}^2.$$

Thus

$$L(\eta) \geq \|d\eta\|_{L^2}^2 + \|d^*\eta\|_{L^2}^2 - t^{-1}\| - \beta''\omega_0\|_{L^2}^2 - t\|\eta\|_{L^2}^2$$

for all $\eta \in L^2_2(\Omega^0(Y \setminus B_y(r), \partial))$.

Next use the Poincaré inequality to continue the inequality

$$\geq (1 - tC)(\|d\eta\|_{L^2}^2 + \|d^*\eta\|_{L^2}^2) - t^{-1}\|\beta''\omega_0\|_{L^2}^2$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}(\|d\eta\|_{L^2}^2 + \|d^*\eta\|_{L^2}^2) - 2C\|\beta''\omega_0\|_{L^2}^2 \quad (\text{letting } t = \frac{1}{2C})$$

$$\geq -2C\|\beta''\omega_0\|_{L^2}^2$$

Since β, ω_0 are fixed, and we have **Rang** $L \subset [-2C \|\beta'' \omega_0\|_{L^2}^2, \infty)$, we have the desired lower bound. Hence $L_0 = \inf \{L(\eta_k) : \eta_k \in L_2^2(\Omega^2(Y \setminus B_y(r), \partial))\}$ exists.

Now choose a sequence $\{\eta_k \in L^2_2(\Omega^2(Y \setminus B_y(r), \partial))\}$ such that $L(\eta_k) \to L_0$ as $k \to \infty$. The above inequalities show that

$$\begin{aligned} \|d\eta_k\|_{L^2}^2 + \|d^*\eta_k\|_{L^2}^2 &\leq 2L_0 + 4C \|\beta''\omega_0\|_{L^2}^2 + 1, \text{ and} \\ \|\eta_k\|_{L^2}^2 &\leq C(\|d\eta_k\|_{L^2}^2 + \|d^*\eta_k\|_{L^2}^2) \\ &\leq C(2L_0 + 4C \|\beta''\omega_0\|_{L^2}^2 + 1) \end{aligned}$$

for k > N. An a priori estimate (see Morrey chapter 6 in [21], Appendix in [9] and Nirenberg [23] page 153) tells us that

$$\|\eta_k\|_{L^2_2} \leq C'(\|\beta''\omega_0\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\eta_k\|_{L^2}).$$

So using the above inequalities we see that the sequence $\{\eta_k\}$ is uniformly bounded in L_2^2 norm, since the unit ball in L_2^2 is weakly compact. Thus there exists a subsequence

$$\eta_{k'} \stackrel{L_2^2}{\rightarrow} \eta_0 \in L_2^2(\Omega^2(Y \setminus B_y(r)))$$

Since Y_0 is a 3-dimensional compact manifold, $L_2^2 \hookrightarrow C^0$ is a compact embedding; so we may assume that $\{\eta_{k'}\} \to \eta_0$ in C^0 . Thus $\eta_0 = 0$ on ∂Y_0 , and hence $\eta_0 \in L_2^2(\Omega^2(Y \setminus B_y(r), \partial))$. Weak convergence gives that $L(\eta_0) \leq \lim L(\eta_{k'}) = L_0$ which means that η_0 minimizes L over $L_2^2(\Omega^2(Y \setminus B_y(r), \partial))$.

Hence for any $\xi \in C^{\infty}(Y \setminus B_y(r), \partial)$ and $t \ge 0, L(\eta_0) \le L(\eta_0 + t\xi)$

$$L(\eta_0 + t\xi) = L(\eta_0) + 2t \int_{Y \setminus B_y(r)} (d\eta_0 \wedge *d\xi + d^*\eta_0 \wedge *d^*\xi + \beta''\omega_0 \wedge *\xi) + O(t^2).$$

where $O(t^2) = t^2(||d\xi||_{L^2}^2 + ||d^*\xi||_{L^2}^2)$ Since this holds for all $t \ge 0$,

$$0 \leq (d\eta_0, d\xi) + (d^*\eta_0, d^*\xi) + (\beta''\omega_0, \xi)$$

= $(d^*d\eta_0, \xi) + (\eta_0, d\xi)_{\partial} + (dd^*\eta_0, \xi) - (d^*\eta_0, \xi)_{\partial} + (\beta''\omega_0, \xi)$
= $(\Delta\eta_0 + \beta''\omega_0, \xi)$

Replacing ξ by $-\xi$ shows that $\Delta \eta_0 + \beta'' \omega_0 = 0$ in the weak sense, and elliptic regularity then implies that $\eta_0 \in C^{\infty}(\Omega^2(Y \setminus B_y(r), \partial))$ and $\Delta \eta_0 = -\beta'' \omega_0$. This completes the proof.

Note: Note that we now have $\Delta(\beta\omega_0 - \eta_0) = 0$, $(\beta\omega_0 - \eta_0)|_{\partial Y_0 \setminus B_{y_0}(N^{-1}\epsilon)} = \omega_0$, $\partial = S^2 \times \{T - \epsilon\}$.

Using this proposition, we have solutions for $\Delta \eta_i = -\beta'' \omega_0$, $\eta_i |_{\partial_i} = 0$ for i = 0, 1 where $\partial_i = S^2 \times \{T - \varepsilon\}$. Define

$$u = \begin{cases} \beta \omega_0 - \eta_0 & \text{on } (Y_0 \setminus B_{y_0}(N^{-1}\varepsilon), \partial_0) \\ \omega_0 & \text{on } S^2 \times [-T + \varepsilon, T - \varepsilon] \\ \beta \omega_0 - \eta_1 & \text{on } (Y_1 \setminus B_{y_1}(N^{-1}\varepsilon), \partial_1). \end{cases}$$

We have $u \in C^0(\Omega^2(Y_0 \# Y_1))$, and $\Delta u = 0$ in the weak sense. Choose the eigenfunction, say μ , corresponding to the first eigenvalue for the one dimensional Laplacian with Dirichlet boundary condition on $\left[-\frac{N}{\epsilon}, \frac{N}{\epsilon}\right]$. We use the 2-form $\mu \cdot u$ which has compact support on $Y \times \mathbf{R}$. In this case, the $L^2_{0,\delta}$ norm is equivalent to L^2 norm, so the operator $\Delta^2_{Y \times \mathbf{R}}$ is $-\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} + \Delta_Y$. This means that the first eigenvalue of $\Delta^2_{Y \times \mathbf{R}}$ is $\leq (\frac{\pi}{2\frac{N}{\epsilon}})^2$. Let $w = \mu u + \star \mu u \wedge dt \in \Omega^2_+(Y_0 \# Y_1 \times \mathbf{R})$, where \star is the 3-dimensional Hodge star operator. Since μu is perpendicular to $\star \mu u \wedge dt$ and $\Delta^+ = \frac{1}{4}\Delta$ on Ω^2_+ , we have

$$(\mu u, \Delta^+(\mu u))_{L^2} = \frac{1}{4}(\mu u, -\mu'' u)_{L^2} = C \cdot (\frac{\varepsilon}{N})^2(\mu u, \mu u)_{L^2}$$

where ' denotes the derivative with respect to t — the **R** factor. So the same holds for the self-dual 2-form w. This implies that the first nonzero eigenvalue for Δ^+ is less than or equal to $C \cdot (\frac{e}{N})^2$; so in particular it approaches 0 as the length of the tube goes to ∞ . Another way to see this fact is to work directly with the weighted Sobolev space $L_{0,\delta}^2$. Then one has the one dimensional Laplacian

$$-\frac{d^2}{dt^2} + \delta \mathrm{sign}(t) \frac{d}{dt}$$

with Dirichlet boundary conditions on $\left[-\frac{N}{\epsilon}, \frac{N}{\epsilon}\right]$, and one sees that for this boundary value problem there is no zero eigenvalue. Then the eigenfunction of the first nonzero eigenvalue λ is

$$f = ae^{\frac{\delta+k}{2}|t|} + be^{\frac{\delta-k}{2}|t|}$$

where $k = \sqrt{\delta^2 - 4\lambda}$. We have $f \in C^1$, and f(t) = f(-t); so $\frac{df}{dt}(0) = 0$. Together with the boundary condition, this gives us

$$\frac{\delta+k}{2}\cdot a+\frac{\delta-k}{2}\cdot b=0, \quad ae^{\frac{\delta+k}{2}\cdot\frac{N}{\epsilon}}+be^{\frac{\delta-k}{2}\cdot\frac{N}{\epsilon}}=0$$

Combine these equations to get

$$\frac{k}{\delta} = \tanh(\frac{k}{2} \cdot \frac{N}{\varepsilon}).$$

Stretching the tube length to ∞ corresponds to letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ or $N \to \infty$, which means that $k \to \delta$, and thus $\lambda \to 0$. (In T. Mrowka's thesis [22] he proves the existence of a lower bound for the first eigenvalue of this operator when the tube length is fixed.) The fact that the first eigenvalues of Δ^+ go to 0 as the tube gets stretched to ∞ gives an "obstruction" to solving the anti-self-duality equation when one connects two anti-self-dual connections on $Y_0 \times \mathbf{R}$ and $Y_1 \times \mathbf{R}$. One may try to build an obstruction bundle as Taubes did in the case of a compact 4-manifold with an indefinite intersection form [28], but the following propositions tell us that we cannot do the same thing for a noncompact 4-manifold.

Proposition 5.1.3 If $H^{i}(Y) = 0$, then $L^{2}_{0,\delta}H^{i+1}(Y \times \mathbb{R}) = 0$.

Proof: This follows from Lefschetz duality and a theorem ([3], Proposition (4.9)) of Atiyah-Patodi-Singer.

For example, if Y is a homology 3-sphere, then $L^2_{0,\delta}H^2(Y \times \mathbf{R}) = 0$, and $L^2_{0,\delta}H^3(Y \times \mathbf{R}) = 0$; so we do not have an $L^2_{0,\delta}$ harmonic 2-form. However we do get the small eigenvalue for the Laplacian on self-dual 2-forms from Proposition 5.1.2.

In the statement of the next proposition we let σ denote "spectrum".

Proposition 5.1.4 Let $\lambda_0 = \min\{\sigma(\Delta_Y^i), \sigma(\Delta_Y^{i-1})\}$, then we have $\sigma(\Delta_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^i) = [\lambda_0, +\infty)$. For a compact 3-manifold Y the spectrum consists of eigenvalues, and for the noncompact manifold $Y \times \mathbb{R}$ the spectrum is essential.

Remark: This proposition points out that it is impossible to form an obstruction bundle in the manner of Taubes with a finite-dimensional fiber.

Proof: In this proof we will drop the weighted Sobolev norm notation and denote it simply by $\|\cdot\|$. Recall that $\lambda \in \sigma(A)$ for a self-adjoint operator A on a Hilbert space if and only if for arbitrary positive ε , there exists a nonzero u_{ε} such that

$$\|(A-\lambda I)u_{\varepsilon}\|\leq \varepsilon\cdot\|u_{\varepsilon}\|$$

(c.f. [33] Theorem 5.24).

Given $\lambda \in [\lambda_0, +\infty)$, write $\lambda = \lambda_0 + \mu$, $\mu \ge 0$. It is well-known that in $L^2_{0,\delta}$ -norm the operator $\Delta_t = -\frac{\partial}{\partial t} (e^{-\delta |t|} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} e^{\delta |t|})$ has essential spectrum $[0, \infty)$ (see [33] section 10.2). So there exists f_{ϵ} such that

$$\|(\Delta_t - \mu I)f_{\varepsilon}\| \leq \varepsilon \cdot \|f_{\varepsilon}\|$$

If $\omega_1 + \omega_2 dt \in \Omega^i(Y \times \mathbb{R})$, then one has

$$\Delta_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{i}(f_{\varepsilon}(\omega_{1}+\omega_{2}dt))=\Delta_{t}f_{\varepsilon}(\omega_{1}+\omega_{2}dt)+f_{\varepsilon}(\Delta_{Y}^{i}\omega_{1}+\Delta_{Y}^{i-1}\omega_{2}dt).$$

Suppose that $\lambda_0 = \min \sigma(\Delta_Y^{i-1})$. Let $\omega_1 = 0$ and ω_2 an eigenform corresponding to λ_0 . Then $\Delta_Y^{i-1}\omega_2 = \lambda_0\omega_2$. Therefore we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Delta_{Y\times\mathbf{R}}^{i}(f_{\epsilon}\omega_{2}dt) - (\lambda_{0} + \mu)f_{\epsilon}\omega_{2}dt\| \\ &= \|(\Delta_{t}f_{\epsilon} - \mu f_{\epsilon})\omega_{2}dt + f_{\epsilon}(\Delta_{Y}^{i-1}\omega_{2} - \lambda_{0}\omega_{2})dt\| \\ &\leq \varepsilon \|f_{\epsilon}\omega_{2}dt\| \end{aligned}$$

because of our choice of f_{ε} . So $\lambda_0 + \sigma(\Delta_t) \subset \sigma(\Delta_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^i)$, i.e. $[\lambda_0, +\infty) \subset \sigma(\Delta_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^i)$. When $\lambda_0 = \min \sigma(\Delta_Y^i)$, we get the same result by choosing ω_1 an eigenform corresponding to λ_0 , i.e. $\Delta_Y^i \omega_1 = \lambda_0 \omega_1$, $\omega_2 = 0$.

Next we need to show that $\sigma(\Delta_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{i}) \subset [\lambda_{0}, +\infty)$. Given any $\lambda \in \sigma(\Delta_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{i})$ there is a u_{ε} with $\|(\Delta_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{i} - \lambda I)u_{\varepsilon}\| \leq \varepsilon \cdot \|u_{\varepsilon}\|$. Write $u_{\varepsilon} = \omega_{1}(\varepsilon) + \omega_{2}(\varepsilon)dt$, where $\omega_{1}(\varepsilon)$ and $\omega_{2}(\varepsilon)dt$ are in $L_{0,\delta}^{2}\Omega^{i}(Y\times\mathbb{R})$ and are mutually orthogonal. Then also $\Delta_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{i}\omega_{1}(\varepsilon)$ and $\Delta_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{i}\omega_{2}(\varepsilon)dt$ are orthogonal. Thus we have the

$$\begin{split} \|\Delta_{Y\times\mathbf{R}}^{i}\omega_{1}(\varepsilon) - \lambda\omega_{1}(\varepsilon) + \Delta_{Y\times\mathbf{R}}^{i}\omega_{2}(\varepsilon)dt - \lambda\omega_{2}(\varepsilon)dt\|^{2} \\ &= \|\Delta_{Y\times\mathbf{R}}^{i}\omega_{1}(\varepsilon) - \lambda\omega_{1}(\varepsilon)\|^{2} + \|\Delta_{Y\times\mathbf{R}}^{i}\omega_{2}(\varepsilon)dt - \lambda\omega_{2}(\varepsilon)dt\|^{2} \\ &\leq \varepsilon^{2}\|u_{\varepsilon}\|^{2} \\ &\leq \varepsilon^{2}(\|\omega_{1}(\varepsilon)\|^{2} + \|\omega_{2}(\varepsilon)dt\|^{2}) \end{split}$$

We have

either
$$\|\Delta_{Y \times \mathbf{R}}^{i} \omega_{1}(\varepsilon) - \lambda \omega_{1}(\varepsilon)\|^{2} \leq \varepsilon^{2} \|\omega_{1}(\varepsilon)\|^{2}$$

or $\|\Delta_{\mathbf{Y}\times\mathbf{R}}^{i}\omega_{2}(\varepsilon)dt - \lambda\omega_{2}(\varepsilon)dt\|^{2} \leq \varepsilon^{2}\|\omega_{2}(\varepsilon)dt\|^{2}$

In the first case where $\|\Delta_{Y \times \mathbf{R}}^i \omega_1(\varepsilon) - \lambda \omega_1(\varepsilon)\|^2 \le \varepsilon^2 \|\omega_1(\varepsilon)\|^2$.

Let $\{\phi_i\}$ be an orthonormal basis of $L^2_{0,\delta}\Omega^i(Y)$ consisting of eigenforms of Δ^i_Y with eigenvalues $\{\lambda_i\}$, and write $\omega_1(\varepsilon) = \sum_i f_i(t,\varepsilon)\phi_i$.

$$\Delta_{Y \times \mathbf{R}}^{i} \omega_{1}(\varepsilon) = \sum_{j} \Delta_{Y \times \mathbf{R}}^{i} f_{j}(t,\varepsilon) \phi_{j} = \sum_{j} (\Delta_{t} f_{j}(t,\varepsilon) \cdot \phi_{j} + \lambda_{j} f_{j}(t,\varepsilon) \phi_{j})$$

$$\Delta_{Y \times \mathbf{R}}^{i} \omega_{1}(\varepsilon) - \lambda \omega_{1}(\varepsilon) = \sum_{j} (\Delta_{t} f_{j}(t,\varepsilon) \cdot \phi_{j} + \lambda_{j} f_{j}(t,\varepsilon) \phi_{j} - \lambda f_{j}(t,\varepsilon) \phi_{j}).$$

Since the basis $\{\phi_i\}$ is orthonormal, we have

$$\sum_{j} \|\Delta_t f_j(t,\varepsilon) + (\lambda_j - \lambda) f_j(t,\varepsilon)\|^2 \leq \varepsilon^2 \sum_{j} \|f_j(t,\varepsilon)\|^2.$$

Thus there exists a k such that

$$\|\Delta_t f_k(t,\varepsilon) + (\lambda_k - \lambda) f_k(t,\varepsilon)\|^2 \le \varepsilon^2 \|f_k(t,\varepsilon)\|^2.$$

where $||f_k(t,\varepsilon)|| \neq 0$.

If $\lambda < \lambda_0$, recall $\lambda \in \sigma(\Delta_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^i)$, so we have $\lambda_k - \lambda \ge \lambda_0 - \lambda > 0$, therefore $\lambda - \lambda_k < 0$; so $\lambda - \lambda_k$ is not in the spectrum of Δ_t , i.e. $\Delta_t - (\lambda - \lambda_k)I$ is invertible. Thus there is a positive constant c (independent of ε) satisfying

$$c \cdot \|f_k(t,\varepsilon)\| \leq \|(\Delta_t - (\lambda - \lambda_k)I)f_k(t,\varepsilon)\| \leq \varepsilon \cdot \|f_k(t,\varepsilon)\|.$$

Choosing a small enough ε we get a contradiction. So $\lambda \geq \lambda_0$, i.e. $\sigma(\Delta_{Y \times \mathbb{R}}^i) \subset [\lambda_0, +\infty)$.

Similarly one can reach the same conclusion in the second case. So we have shown that $\sigma(\Delta_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{i}) \subset [\lambda_{0}, +\infty)$ in both cases. This completes the proof that $\sigma(\Delta_{Y\times\mathbb{R}}^{i}) = [\lambda_{0}, +\infty)$.

In particular, for a fixed homology 3-sphere Y (i.e with a fixed Riemannian metric), the spectrum is strictly positive, i.e.

$$\min\{\sigma(\Delta_{Y\times\mathbf{R}}^2), \sigma(\Delta_{Y\times\mathbf{R}}^1)\} = \lambda_0 > 0.$$

Bibliography

- [1] S.Akbulut and J.McCarthy, Casson's invariant for oriented homology 3-spheres, an exposition, "Mathematical Notes, Vol 36", Princeton University Press, 1990.
- [2] M.F.Atiyah, New invariants of 3 and 4 dimensional manifolds, in 'The mathematical Heritage of Hermann Weyl', Proceedings Symposia Pure Math 48(1988)
- [3] M.F.Atiyah, V.K.Patodi, and I.M.Singer, Spectral asymmetry and Riemannian geometry I,II,III, Math.Proc.Camb.Phil.Soc. 77(1975), 43-69, 78(1975),405-432, 79(1976),71-99.
- [4] P.Braam, Floer homology groups for homology three-spheres, Adv. in Math. Vol 88(1991), 131-144.
- [5] J.Dieudonne, Foundations of Modern analysis, Academic Press, New York and London, 1969.
- [6] S.K.Donaldson, Connections, cohomology, and the intersection forms of 4-manifolds,
 J. Diff. Geom. 24 (1986), 275-341.
- [7] S.K.Donaldson, The orientation of Yang-Mills moduli spaces and 4-dimensional topology, J. Diff. Geom. 26 (1987), 397-428.
- [8] S.K.Donaldson, Polynomial invariants for smooth 4-manifolds, Topology 29 (1990), 257-315.
- [9] S.K.Donaldson and P.B.Kronheimer, The Geometry of Four-manifolds, Oxford Mathematical Monographs, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1990.

- [10] S.K.Donaldson, M.Furuta, D.Kotschick, Floer homology groups in Yang-Mills theory, preprint.
- [11] S.K.Donaldson and D.P.Sullivan, Quasiconformal 4-manifolds, Acta Math., 163 (1989), 181-252.
- [12] R.Fintushel and R.Stern, Instanton homology of Seifert fibered homology three spheres, Proc. London Math. Soc. 61 (1990), 109-137.
- [13] R.Fintushel and R.Stern, Homotopy KS-surfaces containing $\Sigma(2,3,7)$, J. Diff. Geom. 34 (1991), 255-265.
- [14] R.Fintushel and R.Stern, Invariants for homology 3-spheres, in "Geometry of Low-Dimensional Manifolds: 1; L. M. S. Lecture Note Series 150," 1989,
- [15] A.Floer, An instanton invariant for 3-manifolds, Commun. Math. Phys. 118 (1988), 215-240.
- [16] M.Furuta, Z₂-invariant SU(2) instantons over the Four Sphere, 161-174, in "Geometry of Low-Dimensional Manifolds:1; L.M.S. Lecture Note Series 150," 1989.
- [17] P.Kirk and E.Klassen, Representation spaces of Seifert fibered homology spheres, to appear in Topology.
- [18] R.Lockhart, Fredholm, Hodge and Liouville Theorems on noncompact manifolds, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 301 (1987), 1-35.
- [19] R.Lockhart and R.C.McOwen, Elliptic operators on noncompact manifolds, Ann. Sci. Norm. Sup. Pisa. IV-12 (1985), 409-446.
- [20] J.McCleary, User's guide to Spectral Sequences, Mathematics Lecture Series 12, Publish or Perish, Inc. Wilmington, Delaware, 1985.
- [21] C.B.Morrey, Multiple integrals in the Calculus of Variations, Springer, New York, 1966.
- [22] T. Mrówka, A local Mayer-Vietoris principle for Yang-Mills moduli spaces, Ph. D. Thesis, Berkeley (1988).

- [23] L.Nirenberg, On elliptic differential equations, Annali della Scuola Norm.Sup.Pisa, Ser.3, Vol 13(1959), 115-162.
- [24] T.H.Parker, Gauge theories on four dimensional Riemannian manifolds, Commun. Math. Phys. 85 (1982), 563-602.
- [25] T.H.Parker, Equivariant Sobolev theorems and variational methods, Michigan State University, preprint.
- [26] L.M.Sibner and R.J.Sibner, Removable singularities of coupled Yang-Mills fields in R³, Commun. Math. Phys. 93 (1984), 1-17.

- [27] R.Seeley, Conic degeneration of the Dirac operator, University of Massachusetts at Boston, preprint 1991.
- [28] C.Taubes, Self-dual connections on 4-manifolds with indefinite intersection matrix,
 J. Diff. Geom19 (1984), 517-560.
- [29] C.Taubes, Gauge theory on asymptotically periodic 4-manifolds, J. Diff. Geom. 25 (1987), 363-430.
- [30] C.Taubes, Casson's invariant and gauge theory, J. Diff. Geom. 31 (1990), 547-599.
- [31] K.Uhlenbeck, Removable singularities in Yang-Mills fields, Commun. Math. Phys. 83 (1982), 11-29.
- [32] K.Uhlenbeck, Connections with L^p bounds on curvature, Commun. Math. Phys. 83 (1982), 31-42.
- [33] J.Weidmann, Linear Operators in Hilbert Spaces, Graduate Texts in Math. 68, Springer-Verlag, New-York, 1980.